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Monday, September 10, 2012

--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  We're continuing with panel 2 today.  Are there any preliminary matters before I believe it's AMPCO's turn for cross-examination?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. VEGH:  None from the application, Madam Chair, except to just advise we'll be in a position to file the responses to outstanding interrogatories by the end of the day today.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you very much.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, Schools has a preliminary matter.  We've advised the company on the weekend that, in looking through answers on Thursday, it appears that they don't have a witness available to talk about their space requirements.

We tried to ask Mr. Pastoric questions about that, and you'll recall that he said several times -- we kept trying to ask him different ways, What's the reasonable amount of space you need?  Every time he said, I don't know anything about that.  I just relied on my experts.

So we've asked the company if they could please make the expert available for cross-examination.  The piece of evidence that this relates to is under issue 2.1, Staff No. 12, attachment 1, appendix 5, which is a series of charts prepared by a company called TAC Associates that sets on the space requirements that they are suggesting are required.

There's no analysis.  There's just the charts themselves, how much space for this use, this use, this use, et cetera.  And we expected we would be able to ask questions about that of the evidence -- of the witnesses that were presented.  It appears that we can't, and, therefore, we're asking that the Board order that a witness be presented to be cross-examined on that report.

Just by way of context, we will be arguing that the amount of space that they have for offices, 145,000 square feet, is something in the order of 60 percent too high.  For a similar number of employees, PowerStream has 92,000 square feet in a brand new building.

And so we can't test the evidence unless we have the witness available.  We would have raised this earlier, except that the space requirements evidence was not filed in the pre-filed evidence.  It was not filed until a response to an interrogatory.  And so, as a result, we didn't even see it until end of July, and then we just assumed, I suppose incorrectly, that the applicant, because it was such a big issue, would present a witness that could be -- could answer questions about it.  But they have not.

And, therefore, we would ask the Board order that, for tomorrow, a witness be presented to be cross-examined on this evidence.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Specifically, from the party that produced the tables or charts you've identified?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It could be somebody internally at Enersource, but I think we've heard they don't have anybody with that expertise.  So I think it would be have to somebody from TAC Associates, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So it is expertise around the space requirements as a function or relationship to number of employees and activities?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  We'll be arguing they have approximately 50,000 too many square feet.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Vegh.

MR. VEGH:  Madam Chair, as I explained to my friend, if the Board would like further information on the size of offices in Enersource's Derry Road facility, the applicant would of course be prepared to provide that by way of undertaking, but was frankly not in a position to agree to add a new witness at this stage of the proceeding without seriously disrupting the hearing schedule.

I would say that this witness would have been -- the evidence with respect to this issue was addressed on the witness panel that has been completed now.  These witness panels were, of course, assembled some time ago based on what the intervenors addressed in interrogatories at the technical conference, at the hearing panel, and no reference was made to a request to include a representative of TAC on the witness panel.

There was evidence on sizing -- spacing requirements in the pre-filed evidence at Exhibit 5, tab 5 -- sorry, Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 2 -- sorry, could you give me the number again?  Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 5, appendix 4.

So we're not saying this is not something that could have been addressed on the assembly of the witness panel.  It could have been.  I do note that no undertakings were requested of the witness panel that did address this issue.

We've pulled together, as you know, two panels of six witnesses, so it's not that Enersource has been holding anyone back and -- or holding any information back.

Of course, this undertaking could have been asked, but it wasn't.  Enersource is prepared to address this by way of undertaking even though it's technically too late.  The panel has been closed.  We're not trying to argue a technicality.

With respect to the timing for tomorrow, it's not realistic to expect a witness to just make themselves available.  It's not like they can just cancel a meeting and come over to the OEB to start to give evidence.

The TAC material was prepared over a year ago.  If a witness is going to be asked to go under oath and address evidence in front of the OEB, they will want time to go through the materials to familiarize themselves with it again to discuss with -- discuss issues with other people who are involved in preparing that information.

And, of course, if someone is going to be cross-examined, let's face it, we're in an adversarial process, so they will be need to understand the record that is currently being put together.  There will be information put to them on cross-examination that they will have to be familiar with, including transcripts of cross-examination over this hearing.

And it is just not realistic to expect someone to cancel a meeting and come over here and be cross-examined out of the blue like that.

So, as I said, this could have been done if it was requested earlier.  It cannot now be done in the context of the current hearing schedule.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Have you made any inquiries of TAC as to availability of personnel?

MR. VEGH:  We believe someone could make themselves available, but we wouldn't be in a position to have someone in a position to give evidence tomorrow.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Shepherd, what about this alternative of an undertaking approach?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The problem, Madam Chair, is that there is no analysis in the TAC report.  It's just a series of tables.  So we have nothing on which to understand what their thinking was, why they proposed 40,000 square feet of common areas in a 75,000 square foot building.  It's incomprehensible.

So we need to be able to ask them questions and have an interchange.  I would point out, Madam Chair, that it is actually the -- the applicant saying, Well, it's too late, you should have asked for this earlier.  But it is actually the applicant's responsibility to present witnesses on every material aspect of their application.

It's not up to us to say we need a witness on this or this or this.  It's up to them.  They have a very material issue, in terms of the amount of their space, which they have known from the outset.  It is not a surprise to them that it's an issue, and we legitimately thought that they would present a witness that would answer questions about it.

Often this is somebody internally at the company.  So we asked the questions.  It isn't until Thursday that we knew they weren't planning to support this evidence with any witnesses.  We have a right to cross-examine on this or otherwise, as a matter of law, it should be excluded.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Well, the Panel will consider this matter further over the morning break, but, for the time being, we will continue with panel 2.

Mr. Crocker, I believe you are first.
ENERSOURCE HYDRO MISSISSAUGA - PANEL 2, RESUMED

John Bonadie, Previously Sworn


James Macumber, Previously Sworn


Danny Nunes, Previously Sworn


Dan Pastoric, Previously Sworn


Martin Sultana, Previously Sworn
Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:

MR. CROCKER:  Yes, thank you.  We have a compendium for this panel, Madam Chair, which I think has been circulated.  Perhaps it could be marked.

MS. HELT:  This will be marked at Exhibit K3.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  COMPENDIUM OF AMPCO FOR CROSS-EXAMINATION OF PANEL 2.

MR. CROCKER:  There was one additional -- I guess two, sorry, additional -- no, one additional page which has been added to the compendium that the Board has that Enersource people probably don't have that we didn't circulate electronically, but I've indicated to Mr. Killeen it's a response to an undertaking from the technical conference, and we can -- I think Mr. Killeen can pull it up and I think that will be enough.

I want to talk about cost allocation, and I think probably the most complete discussion of this in the compendium comes at the Board Interrogatory 45, which is about part of the way in; I think it's six or seven pages into the interrogatory.

And that interrogatory contains the chart of your revenue-to-cost ratios and your cost allocation.  And as you can see, the GS large user is at 109, and my first question with respect to this is:  You propose to move the residential class from 19.50 to 90, and I wonder what the rationale for that is.  Why are you doing that, or why are you proposing to do that?

MR. BONADIE:  Okay.  As explained already in Board Staff IRs 44 and 45, and we've discussed it in the technical conference, the revenue-to-cost ratios determined in the test year for the residential customer class based on the current rates was determined to be 85 percent, which is significantly lower than the 91.5 percent that we believed was the case, which was in place for 2008 rates.

As such, Enersource adjusted the residential class from an 85 to 90 percent revenue-to-cost ratio, and found that we were able to bring all classes to within 10 percent.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, tell me why or how it was determined to be 85 percent, on what basis.

MR. BONADIE:  This is the second version of the cost allocation model, and as such, we've updated all the information, data requirements as per that model, and that's what came out, 85 percent for the residential class.

MR. CROCKER:  So all of this is modelled; is that correct?

MR. BONADIE:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  So you're relying exclusively on the model, as opposed to anything...

MR. BONADIE:  Not specifically on the model and the data in the model.

So we've updated -- in 2008 rates, we updated the cost allocation model based on 2004 data.

In this 2013 test year, we've updated this for the test year data.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, if you could turn to your answer, your response to the -- to this interrogatory, which is on the following page, in a) you say:

"The revenue-to-cost ratios calculated for each customer class are based on a modelling exercise which has multiple influencing factors such as data quality issues and limited modelling experience."

Would you not agree with me that, first of all, the first -- your first go-round with respect to revenue-to-cost ratios was in 2004, was it?  Is that correct?

MR. BONADIE:  No, in 2008 rates.  It was based on 2004 data as the test year.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Is your data better now than it was then?  Do you have more of it?  Is it more complete?  Are you more comfortable with it now than you were then?

MR. BONADIE:  We did make improvements to some of the data, and I believe the Board also undertook proceeding to improve the original cost allocation model.

And so I do believe there are improvements that have been made.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Then what do you mean at the beginning of the third line in your response to Interrogatory 45a) when you say -- you talk about influencing factors such as data quality issues.  What are your data quality issues?

MR. BONADIE:  These are actually, I believe, words of the Board in the paper that they have -- or in one of the reports of the Board that were put out.

They talk about limited modelling experience, meaning it was the first version of the model and now we're only on the second version of the model.  And the data quality issues, again, it was looking at a 2004, one year of data, that one point in time that was picked to bring forward.

MR. CROCKER:  If you turn to the previous page in the compendium, we've reproduced an excerpt from the material, some of the material that the Board produced on revenue-to-cost ratios.

And the last line of that piece that we produced indicates that distributors should not move their revenue-to-cost ratios further away from one.  You've done that here, have you not, with respect to the residential class?

MR. BONADIE:  As explained previously, when we reran this model, the first -- or what the revenue-to-cost ratio for the residential class was was 85.  So Enersource endeavoured to move their revenue-to-cost ratio to 90 percent.

Again, this has material impacts on -- this could have material impacts on bills and/or, you know, rate stability.  So there's a number of many factors that we've looked at to ensure that we accurately put this to the right percent.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand that, but you have, in fact, by adjusting as you have, moved the residential class further away than it was from unity; correct?

MR. BONADIE:  That is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  You've said in answer to response b), second sentence of that response:

"Enersource is amendable to adjust customer class cost allocation ratios in further years towards unity."

What's the magic of doing that in future years?  Why can't that be done now?

MR. BONADIE:  This is the same issue about rate stability and rate shock.

MR. CROCKER:  Can you tell me what the rate shock you are avoiding would be?

MR. BONADIE:  Sure.  Just give me a second.  I'm just trying to find a reference here.

So if we look at the May 17th update, at Exhibit 8, tab 9, schedule 9, page 3 of 6 -- I don't know if you can bring this up, Bill.

So as you can see, in the bill impact summary here we've run various scenarios of different thresholds or different kilowatt-hours for residential on a monthly basis.  And if we look at a residential consuming 250 kilowatt-hours per month, we can see that there's a bill impact of 15 percent, over 15 percent, which in this category would be rate shock for that particular customer.

MR. CROCKER:  What would the dollar value of that be?

MR. BONADIE:  I believe that is there, as well, too.  $6.54.

Again, this is not the typical 800 kilowatt-hours that the Board looks at, but there is an impact on the smaller consumption for a residential customer.

MR. CROCKER:  That six dollars and whatever, either 43 or 54 per bill, that is per month?  Or what period of time are we talking?

MR. BONADIE:  Per month.

MR. CROCKER:  What's the impact on the large user?

MR. BONADIE:  That's all in the application that we filed.  So if we scroll down, we can -- so for the large user, you can see that the -- if you scroll over a little bit more, Bill.

It's a negative 1.3 percent, so it's a reduction of 1.3 percent.

MR. CROCKER:  Do you have figures which indicate what the subsidy that the large user is providing would be?

At 109 as opposed to 100, the large user is subsidizing the system; correct?

MR. BONADIE:  You can actually look in the cost allocation model and it will show you what the hundred percent revenue requirement on cost is, and do some math there.  If you wish, we can look at that.  I can bring it up.

MR. CROCKER:  I don't think it's necessary.  You would agree with me that there is a subsidiary, though?  The large user is subsidizing?

MR. BONADIE:  In one of the undertakings, we did provide scenarios at the 100 percent.

MR. CROCKER:  And I know that.  That really wasn't my question.  My question is to give me the subsidiary, but the dollar value is not that important.  You would agree with me the large user is, under the system, subsidizing the system?

MR. BONADIE:  You know, again, this is -- the Board set the -- the report of the Board tells you that you want to be within the ranges.  Enersource has provided cost allocation percentages that are well within the Board's ranges.

I might also add, actually, if -- in your compendium on page 4, in the first full paragraph there, the last sentence, this is the Board that states, "In addition" -- maybe I'll wait for you to bring it up.

MR. CROCKER:  It's in the policy.

MR. BONADIE:  So page 4 of the Board policy, yes.  So in that first full paragraph at the last sentence, it does state:
"In addition, as a practical matter, there may be little difference between a revenue-to-cost ratio of near one and the theoretical ideal of one."

MR. CROCKER:  I understand that and I understand all of this, but all I want you to do is agree with me that if the large user is net one -- is above one, it's subsidizing the system to some extent?

MR. BONADIE:  Again, I would state that, you know, Enersource is well within the ranges and, you know, whether there is something of a subsidiary, I don't believe that's true.

MR. CROCKER:  I won't pursue it any further.  We'll deal with it in argument.  I wonder whether you can turn, then, to undertaking JT1.6.  This comes out of the technical conference.  It was the addition that was added this morning to the compendium.

This talks about how your OM&A expenses deal with SAIDI and SAIFI, and my question is this:  Following my questions with regard to the momentary outages and their effect on large industrial customers, can you tell me, please, how much, if any, of your OM&A, as you describe in your response in paragraph a), deals with MAIFI outages?

MR. PASTORIC:  I think we've talked about this in the past.  There's not an exact science, but in the case of tree trimming, traditionally momentaries will be branches that come in contact with power lines.  Is it 100 percent of the dollars there?  I would say not.

When we're talking about infrared, these are situations where there is hot spots.  Again, those are costs.  Any time when you are dealing with washing insulator, in the spring when there is a fog situation that occurs around roadways that have high salt content, it creates a film on insulators.  That could cause tracking, which could either be a momentary situation.

So I would say about half of what you see there could potentially be dealing with momentaries, but it's not an exact science.

MR. CROCKER:  And have you discussed with your industrial customers, particularly those that have had high outages over the past year or two, how you propose to deal with those?  Have these items been discussed with them?

MR. PASTORIC:  Most of our large users, and frankly most of our customers, don't have high outages.  However, for those customers that do have issues, we do meet with them on a continuous basis.  As I indicated before, we do have at least one large meeting with each of them.  We do do preventative --


MR. CROCKER:  Excuse me for interrupting.

MR. PASTORIC:  Large, one large -- in other words, one that we bring in --


MR. CROCKER:  For what period of time?

MR. PASTORIC:  Once a year.  We have multiple meetings with our large users.  However, when you talk about bringing 10 or 20 people from Enersource to deal with an issue, we try to do that once a year with people.

Dealing with preventative tree maintenance, I believe there was a situation this week with one of our large users that we've walked the lines and they have been extremely happy with the issues that we have collectively taken.

So I would say that we're being proactive with all of our large users, but we don't have high outages with them.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Thank you, panel.  I have nothing further.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.  Mr. Faye, I believe both you and Mr. Aiken have cross-examination on behalf of Energy Probe for this panel; is that correct?

MR. FAYE:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  I will be going first, and then Mr. Aiken.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye:

MR. FAYE:  Mr. Killeen, if you could just leave that particular response up on the screen, I will want to refer to it, but I was going to do it via EP 1.  This is just as good.

Panel, I would like to concentrate a little bit on your OM&A expenditures and the way in which you measure them, mainly.  I'm not certain who to direct these questions to, but you can decide amongst yourselves.

First off, I'm assuming that management and senior management would get periodic reports on progress made on your OM&A program; is that correct?

MR. MACUMBER:  We have monthly financial reviews.

MR. FAYE:  In that financial review, you would get the total OM&A spent to date?

MR. MACUMBER:  We produce full financial statements, capital, operating, everything.

MR. FAYE:  So broken down within the OM&A category, you would have a subtotal for operations, maintenance and administration?

MR. MACUMBER:  As put in our evidence, we go by business unit.  We have corporate costs.  We analyze each business unit and the corporate cost.

MR. FAYE:  And within those business units, am I correct in thinking that you would break it down by operations, maintenance and administration?

MR. MACUMBER:  We don't break it down by that breakdown.  We break it down by operating business unit.

MR. FAYE:  And within the business unit, what would I see on the report that you get for a business unit?

MR. MACUMBER:  We sum up our costs by the business unit in each financial review for manpower, contract labour, other expenses, such as bad debt, and then we go through the results based on the business units that have incurred the costs.

MR. FAYE:  So let me take business unit A.  You'll produce a report showing how much has been spent on manpower in that particular month?

MR. MACUMBER:  We break it down, each business unit, by manpower, material, transportation and other expenses.  We'll roll it up in the financial statements to talk about the variances, why business units would be over or under.

MR. FAYE:  So you have a considerable amount of detail here that is available to you.  And every month, that report is issued giving the monthly cost.  Does it also give the cumulative cost, year-to-date cost?

MR. MACUMBER:  It gives the cumulative, and then we talk about what happened between each month.

MR. FAYE:  So you can monitor your budgeted amounts for each of these categories of expense at the end of every month?

MR. MACUMBER:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  So you would have a comparison to how much has been spent versus how much was budgeted to be spent?

MR. MACUMBER:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  And the amount budgeted to be expended in a month, is that some sort of formula?  How is your cost flow done?

MR. MACUMBER:  Like I stated earlier, we do a detailed bottom-up budget for each year, and then try to phase the budget based on historical information.

MR. FAYE:  So if most of the work in a particular unit for a particular activity was done in the summer, then you would put your budget in the summer; is that right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.  Either it would be historical or planned.  When we knew something was going to occur, we would budget it for that period.

MR. FAYE:  I see, then, from that description, you are monitoring your cash flow?

MR. MACUMBER:  That is a concern for us, yes.

MR. FAYE:  How do you measure how much work is being done?  You know how much money is being spent, but how do you measure how much work is being done?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say when we put our budget together, there are certain things we need to obtain each year, certain projects we need to do. 

Again, we base it on the projects that's we're doing, how we're doing against the spend of that.  We try to manage on a -- the total for what we need to deliver to our customers.

MR. FAYE:  Let's take a specific example I think may be easier and clearer to understand.

On the screen there that Mr. Killeen had up, you had a sum in there for substation maintenance.  Is it power transformers or was it the whole station?  Substation inspections, testing and maintenance, $750,000.

Every month, you would get reported against whatever business unit carries this out a certain amount of money spent of the $750,000.  Would you also know how many stations had been inspected?

MR. PASTORIC:  Not at that meeting.  It wouldn't go down do that level, but if the dollars varied greatly then of our -- I'll call it our forecast, we would ask why.

Traditionally, we're off usually because of emergency work done being done somewhere else rather than being off of our schedules.

We do have a project manager that monitors all of this, the variances, so from that point of view we'll dig into it if there is a great variance.  If there is no variance, then we won't get into that granularity.

MR. FAYE:  And the variance, if I understood Mr. Macumber properly, the variance would simply be how much was spent against how much you thought would be spent; is that right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Well, we would go through the variances to try to figure out what we said we were going to spend.  If it was over, what are the reasons why?  What do we need to do for an overall budget?

If it's under, is there reasons why that we -- is there a reason why?  And if so, is there other things that we could be doing?

MR. FAYE:  But first you would have to establish that there was a variance?  You wouldn't look at it if there was no variance; is that right?

MR. MACUMBER:  No.  We -- like I said, each month we look at the total results, what are we spending, what are we delivering to our customers.

It's not just if there is a variance or not.  We look at, each month, our results of the company.

MR. FAYE:  I think you mentioned that you dig into them based on variances, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  No, I would say that we would dig into them more depending on the variance.

MR. PASTORIC:  That was my comment.  If there is a large variance, I would want to be very curious on it to find out why.

MR. FAYE:  So back to what the variance actually means in the context of your reporting system, it means that you have spent more or spent less than you thought you would spend for that month?

Simply a cost flow variance; it's not a production variance; am I right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would state again each month we review the financials for performance, if it's over or under, our product that we deliver is reliable and safe power.

So the idea behind it is:  Are we delivering this for what we are spending?

MR. FAYE:  Let me back up a step in what is probably the chronology of this number coming out.

At the point where you've established you are going to spend $750,000 to maintain substations, has anybody come to you and said:  And that's five substations or that's 10?  How do you say 750 is the right number?

MR. PASTORIC:  Again, we've got 66 active substations.  We've got a number of transformer on that.  We put a work plan together for that group; both the substations' team would put a work plan together for that year of how many station would be done.

We have detailed budgets dealing with how many stations, and then our project planners will figure out when they want to do those stations throughout the year.

Sometimes in the case of loading, we can't do it in the dead of winter or in the middle of summer because of the heat, and we can't take stations out.  Inspections usually can be done quite often, but when you start in testing and you do the maintenance, you have to take them offline sometimes.

So we will, as Mr. Macumber said, we will stagger it appropriately and we'll look at history as our guide, dealing with when it is appropriate to take stations off.

We also monitor the loading on a monthly basis and we can tell which systems are more heavily loaded than others.

So it's a pretty dynamic aspect, but when you talk about how many stations do we do in a year, yes, we've got a very finite number.  We name them, we sequence them, and the crews know what to do.

Sometimes do we change the sequence?  Absolutely, depending on what's the emergency and/or the situation at hand.  We may change the sequence.  It's not always A plus B, or after B, C then D, you know.  They will change depending on the priorities of the times and the loadings.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That's good.  You actually know how many stations you are going to maintain.  You know how much money you spent on them.  So you can divide one by the other and come up with an average unit cost to maintain a station.

Is that a reasonable conclusion?

MR. PASTORIC:  Our stations are very different.  I should say we've got some stations that have two transformers, some stations have one transformer, some stations with larger lots.

So when you go onto the averages, we don't do it on an average basis.  One station will be known as a more high-cost station.  We don't deal with averages.  Each of them have names, and we definitely get personal with each of our stations.

MR. FAYE:  So if the station has one power transformer, you would have an idea of how much it cost to maintain that station; if it had to, the cost would be correspondingly higher?

MR. PASTORIC:  We've got history with all of our stations.  So from that point of view, we would know which ones are the higher-cost ones.  Is it a ratio of one to two?  Not exactly.

So that's why I'm hesitant to use that ratio.

MR. FAYE:  That's okay.  I didn't mean to imply that there was a direct correlation.  The one is more expensive than the other, was all I was trying to get at.

Could I generalize what you just told me and say that you have the same sort of information on how much it costs to maintain pad-mounted transformer, distribution transformers?

MR. PASTORIC:  We have a general program and we have general concepts, but on a transformer-by-transformer, when it goes to pad-mount, no, we don't have that to that detail, to my knowledge.

MR. FAYE:  So when you develop your maintenance budget for -- using the same example -- maintaining pad-mount transformers, do you have a number of pad-mount transformers you're going to do in the year?  And a certain amount of money allocated to it?

MR. PASTORIC:  Yes, we do.

MR. FAYE:  So you could divide one by the other and you know on average what it cost to maintain a pad-mount?

MR. MACUMBER:  No, I would say that our pad-mounted, pole-mounted -- pole transformers, we know the number, we know roughly -- based on historical -- the ages and how many will fail, how many we need to replace.

But we don't track it per pad-mounted transformer of our budget and what the average cost is to repair.  I would say that we want to gather more information, and that's included in our asset management plan.

MR. FAYE:  I just want to clarify what I just heard.

Does that translate into, when you do your OM&A budget for pad-mounted -- let's call them just distribution transformers, includes both pad-mount and pole-mount.

You look at history and say:  We have X number seem to fail every year and we know we have so much reactive maintenance.  And that's how your budget is established for that activity?

MR. PASTORIC:  We both -- do both reactive and proactive maintenance on it.

Reactive wouldn't be maintenance; it would be replacement.  They are relatively smaller-ticket items, so you don't try to predict when they fail.  When they fail, we replace them at this point in time.

As we said in the past, we're trying to become more sophisticated.  We're good, but not as good as I would hope.  We're trying to get into that predictive, and that's part of the asset management plan, the AMP.

But we do a bottom-up approach of what we believe should be changed out on the system, and that's where that whole asset management plan is going, looking at the asset lives, what the general population is within that population of assets, and trying to replace them before they become critical.

But for the smaller-ticket items, it tends not to be on a per-device cost.

MR. FAYE:  What you just described is capital, isn't it?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say some is capital if it's replaced, and some are just purely repair.

Sometimes we just go out and fix the system.  It might not be the transformer; it might be something else that needs to be fixed.

MR. FAYE:  How big is the bucket, then, of activities that include distribution transformers?  Is there more in that activity bucket than just the transformer?  Are there switches in there, for instance?

MR. PASTORIC:  It comes back to the budget.  And, in some cases, if we do a road widening, if we find that asset, say a pole, is aging and the pole is aging -- or, sorry, the pole mount transformer is aging, we'll replace it at the same time, because it is cost effective for us to do it when the crews are there, and we may redo the lines at the same time to reduce the costs.

So in that case, that falls into a third category where it's more cost effective, from a resource point of view, of being out in the field and doing it at that time.  But I'm not sure if I've answered your question.

MR. FAYE:  No, I think I probably didn't state it clearly enough.  I understand that that is capital.  When you are replacing depreciable equipment, that's capital.  But what I'm thinking about here is OM&A.  I'm talking about maintenance, and I think what I've heard is that your maintenance budget is based on the historical amounts, that you spent so much in the past and so you are going spend about the same amount in the future?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say historical and our projections for the future.  Like I've said, when we do our detailed budget, we see what we've done and what we anticipate in the future.

So it's -- again, it's a detailed bottoms-up budget of what we believe will happen in the next year.

MR. FAYE:  But detailed in the sense that it's a lump amount of money.  It's not, We're going to do 100 pole-top transformers.

The detail is, We think we spent this much in the past; we'll probably spend this much in the future?

MR. MACUMBER:  Again, it's historical and based on our knowledge of the system.  We're trying to get more information, like I've stated, with the asset management plan, to get more proactive and preventative in nature for the future.

MR. FAYE:  So at this lower level of equipment, you've got a lot of it out there.  You don't measure by unit.  At the higher level, like power transformers and stations, you do measure by the unit?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say that we spend more time on the significance of the equipment.  So a substation being out of power is more significant than a pad-mounted transformer.

MR. FAYE:  That's fine.  Just to conclude that subject, you don't keep metrics?  You don't keep cost per units on anything, either the big equipment or the little equipment?

MR. MACUMBER:  Since we've adopted IFRS, we've componentized our costs, what's in our fixed assets.  We do have section 4 transformers.  We have substation equipment.  We have more componentization.

We do, however, still have a component of grouped assets, because certain components would be immaterial, bolts, et cetera, but they would be de-recognized if they fail before the end of their useful lives.

MR. FAYE:  In terms of measuring your production, it's not based really on units of work accomplished.  It's based more on the amount of money you've spent on that activity to that point in the year; is that a fair statement?

MR. MACUMBER:  I'm not sure what your question is.  However, I can say that we track our costs by work order.  We do capitalize the costs that need to be capitalized, based on the amount of work that is done, and we track our costs based on what we're actually delivering.  Again, it's safe, reliable power.

MR. FAYE:  Moving to that part of the subject, then, you measure how much power, or what you've called throughput, in the past.  You measure how much you've done each month; is that right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes, we do.

MR. FAYE:  And cumulatively you have a number each month that kind of adds on the last one?

MR. MACUMBER:  True, but there are true-ups, depending on when we bill people.  Again, we close the period each month.  We do true-ups quarterly, I believe, with the IESO.

MR. FAYE:  But the main point here is you are measuring your throughput on a regular basis.  You know generally where you are according to your target?

MR. MACUMBER:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  And you also know how much money you've spent on maintaining the system and operating the system, and what I'm getting at is:  Do you adjust the amount that you spend on the system to reflect how much throughput you've had?
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MR. MACUMBER:  I believe we've stated it several times.  We adjust our budget based on -- or amount of spend based on a lot of constraints.  Either it's the system reliability, we need to fix it.  Perhaps we can't outsource or get extra help to rebuild or do things.  Maybe there's cash flow constraints.

Again, we manage our business based on all the constraints that we have, and we'll adjust our budget or our spend depending on if we need to.

MR. FAYE:  One of the factors suggesting that you need to be a lower amount of throughput than you expected?

MR. MACUMBER:  No.  Again, we're building our system for essentially peak load and the customers that are there.  We will reallocate money if it's a better spend somewhere else.

MR. FAYE:  So would I be correct in concluding, then, that the metric that got discussed at length last week, this dollars -- total dollars per kilowatt-hour, is not really adjustable?  You can't change the throughput, and you've just said you don't change your costs in response to that throughput.

So is it fair to say that that measure isn't really of any use?

MR. PASTORIC:  Let me jump in.  I would say that from a throughput point of view, our customers dictate how much they are going to use, and only through our conservation programs do we assist them to use less.

We do not turn off customers to have them use less, and we don't ask them to turn on heaters to use more.  So we do not control our customers' usage.

Regarding our costs, we look at our costs on an ongoing basis, both the capital from a flow point of view and, if we're ahead that, we wonder why.

If too much capital is going out, we look at:  Is it due to customer connections, and so forth?  If it is dealing with OM&A, we look at the reasons for that.

If I can just give a little bit of an example, on this weekend we had seven outages.  Four of them were cable failure outages.  In that case, we have a 24/7 trouble truck that was handling most of them.  However, in some cases, we may have to call our A and B crews in - that's overtime, that's OM&A - on a reactionary basis.  In one case it took nine hours, because there was no backup to the cable that failed.

So from that point of view, do we monitor it and look at it on an ongoing basis?  Yes.  Do we look to see if we can reduce those costs?  Absolutely.

I think we're trying to do that by having a 24/7 trouble truck.  That reduces costs.  We try not to have hit as overtime, and, if that crew can deal with it, they deal with it.

Unfortunately, as this weekend was, we had a lot of outages and costs go up.  So do we manage the dollars?  Absolutely.

MR. FAYE:  Let me give you a, I hope, not hypothetical scenario here.  You have years in which summers are unusually cool.  Would you agree with that?

MR. PASTORIC:  Since I think there is a lot of normalization going on, yes, I would assume that there are some that are cooler and some that are hotter.

MR. FAYE:  In the cooler summers, do your customers consume less or more electricity?

MR. PASTORIC:  It depends on the customer.  The industrials tend to be fairly inelastic.  They will use the same consumption.  If you're talking about air-conditioning load for large buildings, they will be more sensitive to solar gain versus actual temperature.

We have noticed that if there is a heat wave that goes through on a four- to five-day basis, that by Thursday the heat that has built up in the stone and steel, I'll call it, of the buildings tend to peak the utility.

So, yeah, there is some sensitivity to different customer groups.  It depends on the situation.  Humidity tends to be a greater driver than heat.  People do not like humidity, so they will turn on their air conditioner, when there is a high humidity day, after three or four days.  So we do monitor that.

MR. FAYE:  So it's fair to say, though, that hot summers, people use more air conditioning than cold summers; is that fair?

MR. PASTORIC:  Residential and commercial, yes.

MR. FAYE:  In hot summers, your throughput would be more than in cold summers as a result of that more or less usage of air conditioning?

MR. PASTORIC:  I would go with that assumption.

MR. FAYE:  That's not something you can control -- any utility can control?

MR. PASTORIC:  I wish I could reduce that risk.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  When you get half way through a cold summer, do you cut your OM&A budget in response to the fact you don't have the throughput you expected to have?

MR. MACUMBER:  I'm assuming what you are suggesting is, if we have a cool summer and there is no other faults, assuming the weather is causing the faults, that we would have less repairs or maintenance costs.

MR. FAYE:  No, I'm not saying that.

MR. MACUMBER:  No, but that is what I'm suggesting, is it's not cutting the budget.  My actuals would be probably less if the weather was the only determinant for the outages.

MR. FAYE:  Would you cut your planned maintenance in response to a lower than expected throughput?

MR. PASTORIC:  I think what Enersource does is it drives on a dollar basis.  However, we're not going put either the system or the customers at risk for a standing, if I can call it that.

I prefer to ensure that the customers are safe and the system is working, versus a performance measure against myself.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Just one final quick question, and that relates to your large users.

I think you previously testified you have 10 of these?  These are customers with a demand greater than five megawatts or MVA.

MR. MACUMBER:  We currently have reduced it to nine.

MR. FAYE:  You've reduced it?

MR. MACUMBER:  Well, the load dictated that the person should be re-classed.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  And those customers -- I think you referred to the airport as being one of the large ones -- they would cost less to service overall on a per-kilowatt or per-kilowatt-hour basis than a small customer; is that generally a good statement?

MR. PASTORIC:  I couldn't generalize it that way.

Traditionally, large users tend to have large feeders, a number of feeders.

A residential customer may be a fraction of one feeder, whereas the airport -- I don't think we should use names, but everyone knows an airport here -- has, I believe, four feeders and a very complex system, so -- and it tends to be in a more isolated area, so they'll have longer runs.

So I can't generalize that it would be.  We would have to do an analysis of every aspect that feeds that customer, but generally I would say a large customer might consume less, but I couldn't really be black and white on that one.

MR. FAYE:  Let me ask you this.

Does a large customer like the airport -– we'll stay with the airport -- do they own the power transformers and switch gear at the airport end?  Or do you own them?

MR. PASTORIC:  They own some of the equipment, and we own some of the equipment that feeds them.  So there is various splits on that.

MR. FAYE:  And the sum of the equipment that you own, is that the line?

MR. PASTORIC:  I couldn't tell you.  I would have to look at the blueprint and various other things, where the demarcation point is.

MR. FAYE:  In general, do your large users provide their own transformation and switch gear?

MR. PASTORIC:  I've been told yes.

MR. FAYE:  So you don't have to maintain that stuff, do you?

MR. PASTORIC:  Again, depending on the demarcation point, we will service some of that equipment.

MR. FAYE:  They would maintain their part of the equipment, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  I would assume they're maintaining it, yes.

MR. FAYE:  So that's a cost that you don't have to incur, whereas at the smaller customer level, you own the equipment right up to the distribution transformer and you have to maintain that.

Is that a difference between those two classes of customer?
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MR. PASTORIC:  We will maintain up to the demarcation point in some cases, yes.

Outside the transformer, in some cases we will own the transformer.  If you're looking at commercial buildings in some cases or other parts of the city, there might be unique situations.

I couldn't blanketly say that it's in all cases.

MR. FAYE:  No, I was referring to residential transformers, pole-mounted, pad-mounted residential transformers.  You own all of those?

MR. PASTORIC:  We own all those.

MR. FAYE:  So in the middle group, then, the commercial customers, what I think I heard you say, that sometimes they will own the equipment in their vault, and sometimes you will own that equipment; is that right?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  That's all my questions.

MS. HELT:  Madam Chair, if I may just pose a question to Mr. Faye, he provided a compendium of documents and yet did not refer to it in his cross-examination.  I'm just not sure if you wanted it marked as an exhibit, even though he hasn't referred to any of the documents, if he intends to.

MR. FAYE:  Yes, Ms. Helt.  After reading the transcript from Thursday that -- when I was not here, I find that other counsel have covered many of the areas I was going to cover, so I didn't refer to these documents, simply because it would be duplication of what's already been done and what I anticipate my friends will be doing later.  So I don't see it needing an exhibit number.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

Mr. Aiken?

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I will be referring to a compendium, so if we could have that marked, it's the Energy Probe cross-examination compendium B for panel 2.

MS. HELT:  That will be Exhibit K3.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  ENERGY PROBE CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM B FOR PANEL 2.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  So to start off, could I have you turn to page 1 of K3.2?

So if we go to page 1, what I've done here is I've replicated the data provided in Undertaking JT2.11 in this table, and made some changes and additions.

The first thing I've done is I've moved the bad debt expense out of the "other key drivers" section into the "business unit or key drivers" section, and you'll see that reflected at line 12.

And then at lines 26 through 29 of that table, I've added some calculations, the first being at line 26, and what I'm showing there is the total operation cost on a CGAAP basis, and then the lines that follow show a number of percentage increases on a year-to-year basis, as well as between 2013 and Board-approved on both the total basis and a compound annual increase.

So subject to check, do you agree that those numbers are accurate?

MR. MACUMBER:  If you've taken the numbers from our application, then I would assume that the math would be right.

MR. AIKEN:  That's never a good assumption, but I'll take it.

Can you refresh my memory as to what the 251,000 in one-time costs shown for 2013 are?  I know there's some regulatory costs there, but are there other costs, as well?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yeah, that evidence has been updated.  We had some metering costs or meter verification for individually suite-metered that we have removed and requested a deferral account for.

So then it would just be the cost of this hearing and cost of -- regulatory costs.

MR. AIKEN:  So all of the 251,000 is regulatory costs?

MR. MACUMBER:  Again, I believe it's gone done by 88,000.

MR. AIKEN:  And I'm not – I'm showing that on the following line in that table.

MR. MACUMBER:  Oh, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, I take it that since there are no figures shown in this line item, "one-time cost," for any of the other years, that you had no one-time costs in any of those years, including 2012; is that correct?
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MR. MACUMBER:  I'm not sure if they would have been one-time, but we did have regulatory costs in 2008 cost of service that we put for the hearing.  And we put those into the regulatory business unit.

MR. AIKEN:  Were those 2008 regulatory costs -- I'm assuming you are referring to the ones with -- related to your cost of service proceeding.  Were they amortized over a number of years?

MR. MACUMBER:  No, we -- no, they were not.  We put a figure in 2008 into the business unit, and had it approved in rates.  We didn't phase it.  This was a requirement from the Board that came out -- I'm not sure which year, but it wasn't during 2008.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  Am I correct that the figures on line 14, the subtotal that's there, are also on a CGAAP basis, given you've added the IFRS costs at line 17?

MR. MACUMBER:  The IFRS costs on line 17 is indirect overhead that we determined could not be capitalized.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  So is line 14, then, essentially all on a CGAAP basis?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would assume that that's what you are trying to show and that's what our evidence would suggest, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  If you could go to page 3 of the compendium, I've calculated the percentage of the total Enersource Hydro compensation that has been expensed based on the data found in appendix 2-K to Exhibit 3, schedule 1, which for reference purposes can be found on the previous page of the compendium.

So my first question on these numbers on page 3 is:  What drove the significant reduction in OM&A costs that were expensed relative to the amount from the cost of service filing in 2008, where it drops from 74.3 percent to 70.6 percent?

MR. MACUMBER:  I think as we put in the evidence, we had significant costs being allocated to our CCMB project in 2008/2009.  We also had IOM costs that we were capitalizing and smart meter MDMR costs.

Throughout 2012 and 2013, our costs on certain IT projects have gone down, and our forecast from our bottoms-up budget assumes that we're going to be doing more repairs and maintenance rather than spending time on our system with own other staff.

MR. AIKEN:  Am I correct that the figures shown for 2008 through 2010 are CGAAP based, and the figures for 2011 through 2013 are MIFRS based?

MR. MACUMBER:  That's how we supplied our evidence, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Other than the change to MIFRS from CGAAP, did you make any -- did you make or are you proposing any changes to your capitalization policy over the period shown in the table?

MR. MACUMBER:  We didn't technically change our capitalization policy, but we did -- when we adopted IFRS, like I had said stated, there were certain costs, indirect costs, that were going to go to OM&A rather than capital.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, if you could turn to page 5 of the compendium, this data is taken from the table provided in response to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 3b) on issue 4.4, and that complete table is shown on page 4 of the compendium.

What the table on page 5 does is add the calculation of the compensation per FTE for Enersource Corporation employees.  Subject to check, do these figures look accurate?

MR. MACUMBER:  I can't comment on that.   I have talked about shared services, and, again, I said FTEs is probably not the best way to show the allocation of compensation.

We allocated the costs for the corporation services to the regulated and non-regulated services, essentially from 2009 onward, based on revenue or head count.  If there was changes in what the people were doing or the structure of the company, we would again allocate the cost based on revenue or head count.

So I can't comment on if this is an accurate reflection of how we allocate costs.

MR. AIKEN:  This actually doesn't reflect allocation of costs, because if you go back and look on page 4, the numbers that I've used for total compensation are the total compensation for Enersource Corporation before allocation to Enersource Hydro.

So I am looking purely at the total compensation for Enersource Corporation and the number of FTEs for Enersource Corporation without any allocation.

My basic question is:  What's driving the annual increase in compensation for FTE for Enersource Corporation by nearly 10 percent per year?

MR. MACUMBER:  As we put in the evidence, we've seen a significant cost increase because of benefits.  We've had some movement of staff to realign the company to better fit to our new business processes.  For example, a VP position was moved over to Enersource Corporation from Enersource Hydro.

MR. AIKEN:  Go back to page 4 of the compendium, and, again, this is the attachment to the response to the Energy Probe IR.

Are all of the costs associated with the board of directors of Enersource Corporation included in this compensation table?

MR. MACUMBER:  I don't believe we put the board of directors in here.  We responded to one of the IRs, I believe, and we've provided in -- the shared service information in our cost of service.  They get honorariums and expenses to come to board meetings, et cetera.

MR. AIKEN:  So I take it there are no board of directors' costs included in that compensation table?

MR. MACUMBER:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  So then if we look at the response to Energy Probe 1 under issue 1.4, which I've included in the compendium at pages 6 and 7, you are saying that the $148,000 in board of directors' costs for Enersource Corporation are included in the shared services costs, not through compensation?  I just want to make sure I got that right.

MR. MACUMBER:  I believe when they filled in that table that was on than an FTE level.  I don't believe we considered a board technically FTEs.  It is allocated out to the regulated and non-regulated companies.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, if you could turn back to page 2 of the compendium, this is appendix 2-K.  That shows the same type of data, only this is FTEs and compensation for Enersource Hydro.  This shows you are adding one management position in 2013, along with five non-union positions and two union positions.

So stopping there, do I have that right?

MR. MACUMBER:  We've provided a list of the positions that we are requesting for the 2013 test year.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  I'm looking at the number of FTEs between 2012 and 2013.  There's an increase of one management, five non-union and two union between the bridge and test years.  That's correct, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  That's what we filed, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Can you provide the total compensation costs included in the 2013 forecast associated with the additions in each of these three categories?

MR. MACUMBER:  I believe we've provided that in one of the IRs.  That question was asked either by Board Staff, or maybe it was -- I'm not actually sure which intervenor, but we had to increase by 11 head count, and they asked what the compensation was.  It was roughly about 875,000.

MR. AIKEN:  Did that answer provided by each -- a number for each of the three categories?

MR. MACUMBER:  Well, by adding one management staff, given the compensation for one management staff, it is probably not appropriate due to confidentiality.  What I would suggest is that we can give you an average, if we increase the average of eight heads multiplied by the average compensation that would go to OM&A.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, because my second part of the question was:  In addition to the total compensation costs, what portion of those would be expensed versus capitalized?

MR. MACUMBER:  I think if you just used the ratio at the bottom, that would be a rough estimate of how much costs would go to OM&A and how much would go to capital.  I believe it's an average operating salary of around 76,000 times -- by eight heads.

MR. AIKEN:  I guess my concern is:  Do you capital the same percentage of management or non-union as you would union?

MR. MACUMBER:  Again, I would suggest that we follow our process of our capitalization or accounting policies that we've provided in the evidence, such that if they are working on capital projects, we would have them fill in time sheets and capitalize their costs.

MR. AIKEN:  I see a decrease in the number of executive positions from three to two between 2011 and 2012 on the same schedule, and there is an increase in the management figures from 48 to 50 over the same period of time.

Was there some realignment of the executive and management figures between these two years?

MR. MACUMBER:  There was an executive, as I just mentioned, that was moved from Enersource Hydro to Enersource Corporation between 2011 and 2012.  We had a temporary management position in AR that we moved to permanent.  I can't tell off top of my head what the other management position is.

MR. AIKEN:  On the increase in the two management positions, have they actually been hired this year?  Or are they still vacant positions?

MR. MACUMBER:  Again, I can't comment on what the other one is.  I would have to look through our information to see what -- that head that you are referring to.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to do that and see if that position has been filled?

MR. MACUMBER:  I can do that.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J3.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  to CONFIRM WHETHER SECOND MANAGEMENT HAS BEEN FILLED.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Just so I'm clear, the other position was the accounts receivable, and it switched from temporary --


MR. MACUMBER:  Temporary to permanent.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And that has been --


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes, the person is here.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  Finally, on the compensation, you discussed with Mr. Warren last week that the rate increase for unionized employees in 2013 is 3.25 percent and that the same figure was used for the non-union group; is that correct?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's incorrect.  The non-union for --sorry, 2012 was 2.25, which was their increase.

Now, in 2013 I believe we used the same figure.

MR. MACUMBER:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  You are using 2.25 for the non-union group in 2013?

MR. MACUMBER:  No.  That's 2012.

MR. AIKEN:  My question was:  For 2013, three and a quarter percent for union and non-union group?

MR. MACUMBER:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, in this context, does the non-union group include management and the executive?

MR. PASTORIC:  The executive has been treated always differently, and we have not received the full increase for some time.

MR. AIKEN:  But it does include management, then, I take it?

MR. MACUMBER:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Are these increases related to the employees of Enersource Hydro only, or do they also apply to the employees of Enersource Corporation?

MR. MACUMBER:  Like I stated before, we did a detailed, bottom-up budget.  We don't differentiate between the two companies.

There's union and non-union in each group, and yes, we used the same budgeted percentage for non-union and for management -- or union and non-union staff for all companies.

MR. AIKEN:  Could you provide the estimate of the reduction in total compensation costs if the 2013 union increase was reduced by one percentage point to 2.25 percent?

MR. MACUMBER:  For the union staff?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MR. MACUMBER:  I cannot do that, because the number wouldn't be meaningless.  We have a contract with the union.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, but I still would like to see what the impact of a one percentage reduction in the union increase is.  And I would also want to see it broken out between hydro and corporation, because my understanding from what our discussion was before, on the hydro side some of those costs would be capitalized, whereas -- my understanding -- all of the corporation compensation costs are not capitalized.

MR. MACUMBER:  You're looking for a one percent reduction in union -- union rates, or increases of what it would do to OM&A; is that correct?

MR. AIKEN:  That's the first part, yes, for the union group, and separated between the union group at hydro from the union group at Enersource Corporation.

The second part -- and I'll put it all out here -- if you can provide an estimate of the reduction in the total compensation costs if the non-union, including management, was reduced from three and a quarter percent to two and a quarter percent, again separated between hydro employees and corporation employees.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. VEGH:  Madam Chair, first I will ask the witnesses to address the logistics of providing that information, but perhaps as a friendly amendment that may help in addressing the undertaking, particularly with respect to -- well, with respect to all contracted employees, unionized and non-unionized, the witnesses may be in a position to say what is the full amount and what is the amount if the calculation were at two and a quarter instead of three and a half, or whichever the figures were, without getting into the assumption or the hypothetical that they can go back and change union contracts.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I think the question is for the calculation.  Whatever assumptions, caveats, cautions that the company cares to add to that, that's in your hands, Mr. Vegh.

So I think the question is:  Can the witnesses do -- if you could do the calculation here, that's fine, or do you prefer to take an undertaking?

MR. MACUMBER:  Sorry, I think it would need to be an undertaking.

Just how we do our budget, I have to go through approximately 400 -- or 403 in total headcount.  It's not a simple exercise, so it's going to take me a little bit of time to go through each person's salary and -- I'm not sure when -- how long it's going to take, but the person that needs to review it is here.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, do we know -- do we have a figure for the amount of increase year over year in OM&A is due to the 3.25 percent increase?  I thought that that is what Mr. Vegh believed you would be able to give us on the stand.

Am I incorrect?

MR. VEGH:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  I didn't mean to suggest that.  I was going to leave it to the witnesses to address the calculation.

My point was more, as you indicated, around the assumptions, et cetera, with respect to the answer.

MS. CHAPLIN:  We'll give the undertaking a number.

MS. HELT:  J3.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2: to calculate the impact of a one percentage reduction in the union increase

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  At some point, Mr. Vegh, perhaps you can report back as to when we might expect to receive that answer, but we don't need that information right now.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I'm going to move on to the issue now about working capital allowance.  You agree that the working capital allowance represents the estimated cash flow required by the distributor to be paid in advance of recovery?

MR. BONADIE:  I agree.

MR. AIKEN:  And am I correct that you're requesting a working capital in this proceeding of 13 and a half percent?

MR. BONADIE:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  In response to Energy Probe Interrogatory 2h) -- this is not in the compendium and I don't think you need to pull it up -- 2(h) under issue 2.2, the percentage would fall to 9.3 percent if you billed all of your customers on a monthly basis; have I got that right?

MR. BONADIE:  That is correct, as well.

MR. AIKEN:  Based on a rough estimate of reducing the percentage from 13.5 percent that you are requesting, to the 9.3 percent if you billed all your customers on a monthly basis, and then applying that difference of 4.2 percentage points to your OM&A and cost of power forecast of about 794 million in total, this change would reduce rate base by about $33 million and reduce the revenue requirement by more than $2 million per year.

So based on that, has Enersource looked at the incremental costs it would incur if it went to monthly billing for all of its customers?

MR. BONADIE:  No, we have not.  We did provide a rough estimate of postage costs in one of the IR responses.

MR. AIKEN:  If it would a net saving to your customers and it would increase your cash flow, wouldn't you want to look at that?

In other words, it's a win/win situation?  You get an increased cash flow or better cash flow, and if there's a reduction in total cost to customers, isn't that something that you want to look into?

MR. BONADIE:  I do want to add that Enersource did file an updated working capital study based on 2010 actuals, and that working capital study showed that the working capital was 17.1.

If we were to take off the -- or if we were to bill monthly and take off a percentage for these monthly customers, that would bring down the working capital allowance to 12.9.

MR. AIKEN:  It would even be a bigger savings?  The differential between the 17.1 and the 12-whatever you said is bigger than the differential I'm talking about?

MR. MACUMBER:  No.  I think what we're saying from the 13.5 we submitted, if we -- if, assuming all things would work out, it would go down to 9.3, which is roughly a 4.2 savings; is that correct?

MR. BONADIE:  Correct.

MR. MACUMBER:  And if I take the 17.1 and take off the same differential, I would be coming to 12.9.  What we're suggesting is just by going to monthly billing may reduce our working capital, but we haven't done an analysis about the cost increases that would happen.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  And I'm asking why not.  Again, if you can improve your cash flow and have either no impact or a beneficial impact to your ratepayers, why haven't you looked at that?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say just moving to time-of-use rates and for our customer surveys that we have submitted, our customers appreciate the service we are providing, and bimonthly billing has not seemed to have affected them, that they would want monthly billing.

MR. AIKEN:  Have you asked them specifically about bimonthly versus monthly billing?

MR. MACUMBER:  No, we have not.

MR. AIKEN:  Then what was the basis for your previous statement?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would assume, from our customer survey, that they -- I would assume from our customer survey that if it was something they would want, they would have informed us of that.

MR. AIKEN:  Do you think your customers would be better informed, in terms of Enersource promoting conservation, if they knew what their consumption was on a monthly basis, rather than having to wait two months to get their consumption data?

MR. MACUMBER:  I think that is a hypothetical question.

MR. AIKEN:  I assume you haven't asked your customers about that either?

MR. MACUMBER:  No, we have not asked our customers if, by going to monthly billing, it would help them conserve energy.

MR. AIKEN:  In another topic here, moving onto another topic, you sent a letter to the Board dated August 23rd, 2012 in which you indicated you would be removing adjustment to the GS 50 to 499 rate class of a reduction of 80,000 kilowatts.

The letter indicates that this would not affect the overall system and load forecast, but it would affect the billing demand for this rate class.

So based on that, does the removal of the adjustment affect the allocation of costs?

MR. BONADIE:  No, it does not.

MR. AIKEN:  Can you explain that to me, because you now have more billing demand for the GS 50 to 499 class than you had before, and wouldn't that increase in the billing demand attract more cost to that rate class?

MR. BONADIE:  I'll summarize the impact from the 80,000 adjustment.  As we stated in the filing on August 23rd, it's important to note that this adjustment does not affect overall system load, the load forecast model which underpins 2012 and 2013, nor does it impact the customer class weather normalization models.

However, it does result in a reduction in the total deficiency of approximately 350,000 in rates, and that's directed to this GS 50 to 499 KW class, and that also includes an adjustment to the transformer allowance for that class, as well.

MR. AIKEN:  Can you explain to me why the increase in the billing determinant for one rate class doesn't impact the allocation of costs between rate classes?

MR. BONADIE:  You mean among all the other rate classes?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MR. BONADIE:  There is a slight change that would impact all the other rate classes.  It is immaterial.

MR. AIKEN:  So your revenue-to-costs ratios --


MR. BONADIE:  The revenue-to-cost ratios would not be impacted, as it uses the throughput or the kilowatt hours.

MR. AIKEN:  So the extra 80,000 in billing demand does not impact revenue-to-cost ratios or any of your proposals with respect to rates, other than $350,000?

MR. BONADIE:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.  Then moving on to my last question, this is on Exhibit 4, tab 1, schedule 3.  On page 13, you talk about bad debt and late payment revenues, and you talk about the significant increase in the number of accounts deemed to be uncollectible since 2008.

You note there that Enersource has attempted to mitigate this trend by hiring an accounts receivable manager and selecting two new third party collection agencies.

My question on those -- on that comment is:  When did you hire the new accounts receivable manager and go to the new collection agencies?

MR. MACUMBER:  We had -- the temporary accounts receivable manager was hired at the end of April 2011.  That RFP was awarded to the two collection agencies, I believe, at the beginning of October.

MR. AIKEN:  Of 2011?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.  We'll take the morning break now and break for 20 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 11:02 p.m.

--- On resuming at 11:40 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

The Board has considered the request of Schools for the production of a witness, and we also asked Staff Counsel to have some discussion amongst the parties, and it is our conclusion that the Schools request is reasonable, and we think it would be appropriate for Enersource to make a witness available from the company that produced --specifically the company that produced the tables that appear at appendix 5 of Board Staff IR 12 for Issue 2.1.

And we understand -- we take Mr. Vegh's point, and we do agree that requiring that witness to appear tomorrow would be unreasonable, but we understand that Enersource can make a witness available on Thursday.  And at this point, we believe we will be able to make provision for a hearing room Thursday morning beginning at 9:00 o'clock, to complete probably no later than 10:30 because of other commitments.  It's our sense that that should be sufficient.

Just also a couple of other things.


Mr. Shepherd, can you confirm the confines of your cross-examination?  As I understand it, it is the tables that appear in the appendix, industry standards and the specific amounts for PowerStream?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  The information with respect to PowerStream, I assume it is not on the record of this proceeding, or is it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is not, but I have it here.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So you'll make that available to Enersource and --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will.

MS. CHAPLIN:  The other thing we understand is that, given the extra time to do this, that Enersource requires or is requesting some extra time to prepare its argument in-chief.

So we -- we have some sympathy with that request.  However, given the schedule, we are unable to move the date of intervenor arguments, and therefore we're going to have to -- there will have to be a bit of give and take.

So we will give Enersource until the end of day Monday to provide argument in-chief, but we will not change the date of intervenor arguments or reply.

I believe that covers that issue in its entirety.  Are there any questions or any remaining items on that?

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.

Just for the timing on Thursday, so I did indicate to counsel that Enersource would be prepared to identify and produce that witness for Thursday.  We're not sure of that witness's availability for Thursday morning at 9:00 o'clock.

We're in communication with TAC, and I can give you an update at lunchtime.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure, or even, please, speak to Ms. Helt, and we will do our best -- if 9:00 o'clock -- but some other time on Thursday works, we will see whether or not that can be accommodated within our building.

All right.  With that, I think, Mr. Shepherd, you are next on the list of cross-examiners for panel 2?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I have a compendium of documents that I have provided late last night, and I provided copies to everybody here.

MS. HELT:  Yes.  We provided it to the Panel, as well.  And it will be marked as Exhibit K3.3, School Energy cross-examination materials for panel 2.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.3:  SCHOOL ENERGY CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS FOR PANEL 2.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  And looking through it this morning, I found a couple of areas where there are errors.  I don't know why at 11:30 on Sunday night I would make errors, but somehow it happened.  And I'll note them as I get to them.

First I actually want to ask a couple of brief questions, as I did with panel 1, about Exhibit K1.4.  I think the only two new people we have here on this panel are Mr. Bonadie -- is that right?  Bonadie?

MR. BONADIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Sultana?

MR. BONADIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, Mr. Bonadie, you work for Enersource Hydro in Mississauga, right?  The utility?

MR. BONADIE:  Actually, I work for Enersource Corporation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your CV says Enersource Hydro Mississauga.

MR. BONADIE:  There is a correction that is required there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Who do you report to?

MR. BONADIE:  I report to Mr. Macumber.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have a reporting relationship with somebody at the utility, as well?

MR. BONADIE:  No, I do not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you have any responsibility for direct reporting to the board of directors of either company?

MR. BONADIE:  No, I do not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have not at any time?

MR. BONADIE:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

Mr. Sultana, this says that you also work for Enersource Hydro Mississauga; is that one correct?

MR. BONADIE:  Actually, it should be Enersource Corporation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you also work for Enersource Corporation?

MR. BONADIE:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It sounds like sometimes it's confusing internally.  And who do you report -- who do you report to at Enersource Corporation?

MR. BONADIE:  Mr. Bonadie.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have a reporting relationship with anybody at Enersource Hydro Mississauga either?

MR. BONADIE:  No, I do not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I assume if you report to Mr. Bonadie that you don't report to the board of directors?

MR. BONADIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You're a tax analyst, right?

MR. BONADIE:  My position is rates manager, but I do deal with PILs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

Before I get to the things that I wanted to deal with in my cross -- and Madam Chair, you will be pleased to know that Mr. Aiken covered three or four of the areas I was going to cover so I won't do them again.  However, he did raise one set of questions that I wasn't going to ask about, but now I am, but it won't take long.

Witnesses, if you could turn to K3.2, which is the Energy Probe cross-examination compendium B, and I'm looking at pages 2 and 4.

Do you have that?

Pages 2 and 4 are the 2K.  I'm just looking at the "executive" line, because, Mr. Pastoric, you said when you were being questioned earlier today -- I'm not sure I have the exact quote, but something like:  The executives didn't get the full increases that everybody else got.  Is that right?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm just looking at -- I'm looking at the "2008 actual" line now.  Am I right in saying that in the whole organization in 2008, you had four FTEs in executive in the corp, and another four in Hydro Mississauga?  Is that right?  So a total of eight execs?

MR. PASTORIC:  As per the chart, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the total cost of those people, if you look down about halfway down, you see "Total compensation, salary, wages and benefits, executive" was 917,353 in the corp.  And if you look at the same thing on page 2, 781,877 in Hydro Mississauga.

Will you accept, subject to check, that the total for those eight was 1,699,230?  I'm not meaning to make you do the math.  You can correct me later if you want.

MR. PASTORIC:  We'll do the math.

Approximately.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you accept, subject to check, that that means the cost per executive was $212,404 in 2008?

MR. PASTORIC:  If that's the average, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

Then if you go to 2013, I see that in corp you now have five executives, and the reason is that one moved over, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Who was that?

MR. PASTORIC:  We had a retirement and we felt it was more appropriate to be in the corporate office.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What was the position, sorry?

MR. PASTORIC:  Vice-president of finance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's Mr. Macumber?

MR. PASTORIC:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So you have five in corp in the test year, and you have two in Hydro Mississauga in the test year, right?  So you only have seven total?

If you look on page 2 of Mr. --


MR. PASTORIC:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So seven in total.  And, again, if you look about halfway down under 2013, you'll see the cost in corp is 1,387,613, and the cost in Hydro Mississauga is 616,928, and I'm asking you to accept, subject to check, that the total of those is 2,004,541 for seven executives.

MR. PASTORIC:  I would say approximately, yes.

MS. HELT:  And that looks to me like it is 286,363 average cost per executive.  Does that sound right to you?

MR. PASTORIC:  I'll take it -- we'll verify it later.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's a 35 percent increase in cost per executive over five years, which works out, to me, to a compounded rate of 6.2 percent per year.  So I'm trying to understand that in light of your comment that the executives didn't get all their rises.

The raises were 3.25 and your average increase in cost is 6.2 percent per year for five years?

MR. PASTORIC:  I can only indicate we did not get those raises, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How come that cost increase occurred?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say, from 2008 to 2013, that executives are the same way as we managed the rest of the staff.  We've put more responsibility on certain individuals and reclassed some of the other smaller VP positions to director levels.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you're only missing one person, right?  So you didn't move a whole lot of VPs down to directors.

MR. MACUMBER:  From our cost of service, if you can go back, I believe we had nine in our cost of service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, except I'm looking at what you actually ran the utility on in --


MR. MACUMBER:  And we lowered that during -- after the cost of service, we lowered that.  In our cost of service, we had envisioned that we would have nine.  We reclassed one position, and since that time we reclassed another position.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you don't have any other explanation for this 6.2 percent per year increase?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say there was increases, but also the responsibility of the seven went up and was redistributed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then Mr. Aiken asked you about the capitalization rate, and I'm not going to go over that again, because you've done that.

I was struck by fact that the increase in amount being capitalized -- sorry, the decrease in amount being capitalized from 2010 to 2013, the period where you have MIFRS, is significantly more than the MIFRS impact; isn't that right?  The MIFRS impact was -- you said the total MIFRS impact, which isn't all salary, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  The MIFRS -- sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we get this on film?  You're not the first ones to...

MR. MACUMBER:  The MIFRS impact is, I would say, the indirect cost for labour that we are no longer capitalizing and we're expensing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's 2,774,000 in the test year?

MR. MACUMBER:  If that's what has been indicated in our evidence.  I believe it's around that number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And some of that is compensation costs and some of it is other things, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Well, I would say that a lot of it -- there's labour.  We have some labour costs in our storage department that we're not capitalizing.  Essentially, most of it is labour costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But not all of it?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would have to go through the actual burden that has been put in, but I would say the majority of it is labour costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this change here from 2010 to 2013 is actually 3.7 million?

MR. MACUMBER:  Again, we do a detailed bottoms-up budget.  You are looking at 2010 actual.  We would have either done capital work or operating working.  We fill in time sheets.  We also had significant projects that would have been recoverable, as well.  They are not just the capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, explain that.

MR. MACUMBER:  When we put our budget together, we assume that it's either -- if it's not going to operating, it's either going to capital or recoverable projects.

In 2010, we would have had a mixture of both.  It might have been more.  And I'm just stating that we do a detailed bottom-up budget of how much we assume in each year that we're going to capitalize or expense, based on what our work will entail.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You'll agree, won't you, that from 2010 to 2013 your total compensation costs went up just under 10 percent, but your compensation allocated to OM&A went up 26 percent?  You'll agree with that, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  If that's the calculations.  Again, all I'm going back to is how we do our budgets and the projects that we're going to do.  When we add up all the business units for the labour component, we assess which projects we're working on, what amount of labour will be capital and what amount will be operating.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're free -- after your budget is approved, you are free to change how much you capitalize in the actual test year, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  No, it's not how much we're free to.  Again, we follow our accounting and capitalization policies.  If we're doing more capital work than was planned, that would cause a variance, and we would fill in time sheets and have a variance.

It's not that we're free to change it.  We change it based on, Does it add value in the future, or should it be a repairs and maintenance expense today?

MR. SHEPHERD:  In 2008 actual, you got approval for a certain amount of OM&A, right, and then you moved a bunch of it over to capital?

MR. MACUMBER:  We don't move money just because of what was approved in OM&A.  I have stated in the evidence, specifically our CCMB project, we thought we were going to go live in 2008.  We did not go live until 2009, and we spent more than what was approved in our 2008 cost of service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not suggesting you did anything wrong.  I'm just saying that you had -- I'm asking the question, do you -- you have the freedom to reallocate what your people do in 2013 to have more of it in capital projects than is in your budget, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Again, it's not so much the freedom.  What I would say is we do what is right for the company and we put the cost where they should be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the thing I've never understood -- and I wonder if you could turn to page 3 of our materials.  The thing I've never understood is there is an interchange -- an exchange between us during the second day of the technical conference in which you are talking about -- and I'll read the quote starting on line 20:
"...if I cut 5 percent of capital, essentially I would have to find -- that they would be working on capital, I would have to find something for them to do..."

And so if you have less capital projects, then what you do is you have those people do more repairs and maintenance, right, because they have to do something?  They can't just sit around.

MR. MACUMBER:  I think I've stated several times that we actually have more work than we can actually do, either with financial constraints, resource constraints.  I think what was implied here is what I was trying to get at is, if you cut 5 percent of capital, what is it of the 5 percent of capital that I'm cutting?

Is it the land that I've purchased for a substation?  Well, then it's not people.  If it's self-constructed assets, would they be doing more repairs than the capital?  I was just trying to imply it's not finding something for them to do.  If they are not doing capital, they were probably doing other kind of repair work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  And it works the other way, too, right?  If you have somebody who is in your budget doing maintenance work, for example, and you have a new capital project you have to do and you assign them to that, then your operating costs will go down and your capital additions will go up, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yeah.  I think I made that point when we were talking about the CCMB.  We were working on CCMB.  We spent more -- they spent more time developing the software, so we capitalized more OM&A than what we had planned.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, we obviously asked you a bunch of questions already about OM&A, and you said fairly consistently that you think it's wrong to look at OM&A in isolation, right?  Total cost is the correct measure, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I think what I'm suggesting is, to run the utility efficiently and effectively, that by looking at OM&A and capital is probably a better measure than one side of the equation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you look at page 4 of our materials, this is an exchange between you and Mr. Warren on the second day of this proceeding at page 145, and you said:
"If you're talking about one side of the equation, assuming you are talking about operating, yes, I can't do that.  But if you look at the total equation that strips out any kind of differences."

So I take it what you are saying is total costs is the way to measure things, not OM&A separately or capital separately?

MR. MACUMBER:  I think what I'm suggesting if you look at one of the sides of the equation, then you have chances of changing those numbers.  If you look at both sides of the equation, you get a total picture of what we would be spending money on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So total cost is better than one or the other?  It's a yes or no question.

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

If you go to page 5, then, what we do -- this is all total costs, right?  Even though we're talking about OM&A Today, we're not looking only at OM&A because total cost is the metric you think is the more important.

And this is a comparison on a rate class basis of your cost per kilowatt and per customer with PowerStream, and the only reason we use PowerStream is because they are the only one with a comprehensive 2013 application that we can compare test year costs.

And they are pretty similar utility, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say they're similar, but they do have their own transformers, they own their own transformers, and they have more residential customers than we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And much less large users?

MR. MACUMBER:  Well, I would say they have less large less, and the size of the large users are also smaller.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we did this on a rate class basis because you're right, that if you do an overall number, then you have the customer mix screwing up your comparability, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  So are you comparing -- if we look on the total basis that you just mentioned, you have 134, so is this 2014 that we're looking at?

MR. SHEPHERD:  2013.

MR. MACUMBER:  Is that with transformer?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This comes directly from --


MR. MACUMBER:  Oh, you took off revenue assets?  Okay.

Sorry, so you are taking the number and dividing it by the total volume, so you're looking at, for us, 0.017 per kilowatt-hour compared 0.021 for PowerStream?  Is that what we're comparing?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  And this is the comparison that you gave us, right, Mr. Pastoric?  You said this comparison with CLD, for example, or your proxy group is the cost per kilowatt-hour to deliver throughput, right?  And you win?  You're better?

MR. PASTORIC:  Is there a question?  I'm just saying that our costs are what they are there.

I'm not sure if we're better than them.  Again, we don't compare ourselves to -- I think every utility in the province is unique in many ways, but this is a lower cost for throughput, yes.

MR. MACUMBER:  I'm sorry for jumping in, but your 134, I'm a bit confused.  That's not what we submitted, and if it's other revenue that has interest and other charges that are not -- I don't know if these are comparable numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're welcome to -- in fact, why don't we do this?  Why don't you undertake to correct this table?  You've been provided with the Excel spreadsheet and with all the calculations in it.  Attached to it in the next --pages 6 through 11, are all the source documents.  So why don't undertake to correct this table if you think it's wrong?

MR. MACUMBER:  Are you -- we have to go through PowerStream's application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I've given you the pages right here.

MR. VEGH:  I'm not sure the witness said he had to correct them.  I think he said it was difficult to make an apples-to-apples comparison on this.

And, you know, this was received over the weekend. Perhaps, Mr. Shepherd, I don't know, do you want to walk through these numbers more thoroughly so that the witness can understand them better?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Will do.  So I will defer my question for the undertaking until we see whether they're actually comparable.

So on residential customers, your cost per unit throughput is 16 percent higher than PowerStream's.  You're 4.06 cents per kilowatt-hour and they are 3.49.  And that's their proposed, right?  That's not what the Board has approved yet.  The Board might approve less, but that's what they've proposed their cost to be.

So on residential, you're significantly more expensive; do you know why that is?

MR. BONADIE:  I'm just looking at the "Costs" column here, and the 134.  I just want to focus in on that.

When I look at the residential, $59,831,000 that you've put here, this actually comes from the cost allocation model, from sheet 01 in the Board's model that Enersource has populated for the 2014 test year.

This would include, like, the actual revenue requirement for residential customers, so this includes the rate base, the return on rate base; this is not looking at just capital and operating.  There's a lot more components in here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Such as what?

MR. BONADIE:  Like I just said to you, the revenue requirement in its entirety.  So we got the debt rates and the return on rate base.  All that gets factored into these costs that you --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, just help me out.  What is there other than capital and operating?  Is there something else?

MR. BONADIE:  The return on rate base.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Return is capital.

MR. BONADIE:  PILs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Capital.

MR. BONADIE:  There's other revenue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But this is cost; this is not revenues.

MR. BONADIE:  One other point that I would like to bring up is this.  It would all be based on the cost allocation study, and as the cost allocation model has many different factors on how it allocates costs, be it number of customers and other functionality break-outs that the model uses, so we would have to -- we would be speculating on the comparison of the cost allocation model and the fact that Enersource and PowerStream have completed these similar.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess -- I wonder if you could turn to page 19 of our materials.  This is, I think, from the transcript on Thursday.  You see at line 10 -- do you have that?  You see at line 10 Mr. Pastoric says:
"We have the cheapest costs."

So now if you want to go back to page 5 again, it looks to me like, on the way that you say that they should be compared, per kilowatt-hour, for residential customers you don't have the cheapest cost, do you?

MR. MACUMBER:  I think what we were saying is the total cost for the throughput -- and that's for all customers -- I don't believe we ever said we were the cheapest for residential.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But the reason why you're the cheapest on a per-kilowatt-hour basis is because, if you look at page 12 of our materials, you have one of the largest cement plants and you have the largest airport, and that's the only reason, the only reason why you do so well on a per-kilowatt-hour basis, isn't it?  That -- more than a billion kilowatt-hours for those 10 customers; isn't that right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I can't tell you how much specifically we've put into our system to manage those two customers.  I can say that we've built our system to manage the load for all our customers and all the load.

So when you're suggesting that it's because we have two customers that are -- consume a significant amount that it that lowers our total cost, I would say our total cost drives our total consumption.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not sure how that helps me.

Your cost per kilowatt-hour for large users is significantly lower than PowerStream.  That's not surprising since the volumes are so much higher, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would just say that based on the customers and the chart that you filled in, that our larger customers consume more and probably need more requirements than the ones in PowerStream, on average.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely.  On a per-kilowatt-hour basis, or on a per-customer basis?  Because on a per-customer basis, you charge them more than three times what PowerStream does, but that's not surprising; they are a lot bigger, right?  That's why?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would assume that because they are larger and consume more, that they are going to pay more.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I'm trying to run this down is because it is your argument that kilowatt-hours is the right way to compare you.  If you are going to be compared to anyone, it should be on the basis of cost per kilowatt-hour.

So I'm looking at this and I'm saying that if you take out the effect of the large user, you're not actually doing so well.

MR. MACUMBER:  But I would suggest from your analysis here that your total cost divided by the volume, you have shown that we're lower than PowerStream, and it's not so much your picking on one customer class, saying it's lower, but if you look at the total, we are lower.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So customer mix and size of customers matters when you are comparing cost per customer, but it doesn't matter when you're comparing cost per kilowatt?  Why would that be?

MR. MACUMBER:  No.  I think what we're suggesting is, if you look -- the total cost with the volumes that flow through, that's how you build your system and that's what you need to support.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then I would like to move on to page 13 of our materials.  This is an excerpt from Thursday's transcript again.  You talked about the disadvantage of comparing with other utilities, because everybody is special, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  I believe there are unique situations in each utility, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just let me stop for a second on that.  Ford and General Motors, and whoever else is still left, they are all unique, too, right, but they still have to compete on price?

MR. PASTORIC:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's true in the competitive markets, generally, right?  Even though you are unique, you still have to compete on price.  You still have to deliver the product in a way that compares the price to people, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  For a discretionary commodity like cars, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that wouldn't be true of food?  That is less discretionary, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  I couldn't comment.  I'm not a food expert.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. PASTORIC:  Sorry, my answer still stands.  I'm not a food expert, so I'm not sure where that goes.  Sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That was just a little side issue.

On page 13, you talk about -- I asked you the question starting at line 8:
"So then your important metric, from a benchmarking point of view is your past performance on any given number, right?"


And you say "yes", and you go on -- I go on:
"So if your costs went up a lot, then that's a concern?"

And you say, Mr. Pastoric, "Absolutely", right?

MR. PASTORIC:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now I want you to turn to page 14 of your materials, and this is the same comparison we just did for PowerStream, except we're doing it to you from 2008.  What this shows is, on a per kilowatt-hour basis - this is your metric per kilowatt-hour, and it's comparing to your performance, because -- this, by the way, is Board approved.  It's not even the lower amount that is in actual.  It's in Board approved.

Your cost per kilowatt-hour for large users went down, but your cost per kilowatt-hour for everybody else went up significantly, and for residential it went up 42 percent.

Do you why that is?

MR. PASTORIC:  I would assume our system is aging in those areas that what I call dispersed.  Subdivisions have been in place for 30 years.  They have been poorly performing.

In the case of large users, they tend to be well maintained by their own companies and ourselves.  We work at looking at those sites to ensure the reliability is high.

MR. MACUMBER:  I would just like to add, if you notice, though, we have in our cost of service provided the detail of why our costs are going up, but if you also look, our volume is going down.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. MACUMBER:  So to manage the system, you are going to look at -- our total costs per kilowatt-hour is going up and we've supplied the data of both volume and cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you said that costs per kilowatt-hour is the right metric to use.

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If cost per kilowatt-hour is the right metric to use, then surely if your kilowatt hours go down, your costs have to go down to keep pace, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  You would assume that, if we weren't managing still to deliver safe, reliable power.  We are getting more customers.  There's other reasons why volume would be going down, conservation, et cetera.

So we still have to manage the system, even with the conservation and economy downturn, with certain larger customers or commercial customers leaving.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I don't understand is your cost per kilowatt-hour for residential went up more than 7 percent per year.  Yes, your volume per customer went down, but your number of customers went up, as well.

Help me understand.  What I don't understand is why you aren't able to say, Yes, we've looked at this; 7 percent a year is a lot.  We've looked at it.  Here's what the reasons are.

MR. PASTORIC:  I guess I must say, when we look at our business, we traditionally don't break it down to residential classes.  On this basis, we look at the overall utility and managing the overall costs.

When we go into neighbourhoods to replace subdivisions and rebuilt that cost more, we found that -- as I said, just on this weekend alone, we had four cable failures.  We didn't have a big outage of our large users on the weekend.

So there is a lot more cost with residential.  However, on a month-to-month basis, no, I do not look at these volumetric numbers.  I look at it over a year's period of time of saying, How are we doing on a year's period of time?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is five years, though.

MR. PASTORIC:  Those are two separate years, I believe, of the five-year, and I believe our numbers were a three-year average, and that gets away from fluctuations between economics and various other things.  We try to smooth it.

This is just 2007 isolated from 2012 isolated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want to move to my next area.  Sorry, before I leave those two tables, the one comparing you to yourselves five years ago and the one comparing you to PowerStream for 2013, is there anything that you want to correct in those, or will you accept them as being correct?

If not, I would like you to correct them.  I would like to have the correct evidence on the record, not something that has errors in it, or would you like to simply accept it subject to check, and then you can go away and take a look?

MR. MACUMBER:  All I can say is I'm not sure how you've calculated the numbers.  I would say, to be honest, that the relative values that you've put together are correct.  Yes, our load is going down.  Yes, our costs have increased.

Our system is aging; we know that.  So regardless of how the numbers are going to go out, the relative increases you see are probably going to be reflective in the numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, when did you want to have lunch?

MS. CHAPLIN:  We have some flexibility today.  I don't know.  How much longer did you expect to be, or --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll certainly take you to lunch, unless you have lunch at 1:30.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sometime in and around 12:30, if there is a convenient break, that would be good.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I wonder if you can take a look at page 21 of your materials, witnesses.  What we're asking here -- this is I think in the technical conference, second day.  What we're trying to drive at here is what tests you use, exogenous tests you use, to determine reasonableness of spending.

And I take it from this discussion on pages 21 and 22, that in terms of costs, you don't have any external benchmarks or any external tests to determine whether your overall costs or individual cost areas are reasonable; is that right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I think it's a product of how we run our business.  We do do RFPs.  We try to get the best value for the money that we're spending.  When we do a bottoms-up budget, if we think that resources are being overworked, a head count may be requested, what level they're at.  What will they be doing?

All that gets questioned, even so much that if a position is requested, we may go out to a third party to say:  What value does our marketplace hold on that position?

When we put our budget together, we have to look at the resource constraints, financial constraints.  We'll calculate the budget that is proposed from the business unit managers.  We review it with the CFO, CEO.

We also understand the shareholder wants a decent return.  If there's other constraints, we'll remove things from our budget.  But the plan is or the thing that we have is we need to do more than what we can actually financially do, so that causes us an issue, and that's how we put our budget together.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See, now that's interesting, because that all sounds logical in an IRM year, because you already know what your budget is.  You already know how much you have to spend and you already know what your shareholder wants, so there's a certain amount left over.  You have financial constraints.  It's not true in a cost of service year, is it?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say it definitely is in a cost of service.  Just because I need to spend more on capital doesn't mean I actually have the cash to do it.

When we put our budget together, our forecast would indicate that we cannot do everything we need to do in capital, because we'll run out of cash.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How will you run out of cash, sorry?

MR. MACUMBER:  Because if I spend money on capital and I get rebuilds done and things like that, eventually if I'm getting a return over 40 or 45 years and I only get it every four years through a cost of service, I can't actually do it with the cash that I have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that doesn't apply to OM&A, then?  OM&A, if you want more money, you just come to the Board and ask for it.

MR. MACUMBER:  No.  I would say it doesn't really work that way, as well.

When we put our budget together, again, there's a trade-off between OM&A and capital, when you get return, how you do your budget of what you can actually -- the resources that you have.

I'm just stating what I've stated before, is to manage a business effectively and efficiently, one of them is the resources and the cash that you have, and trying to spend it wisely.

MR. PASTORIC:  If I can just give you an example, when we talk about OM&A, we look at every position, even existing positions.

An example, the secretary for the vice-president and managing director retired two years ago.  We didn't replace it; what we did is we moved that resource to regulatory, because we felt it was necessary there.

My secretary retired a year ago.  We have not replaced her.

So we take every position seriously and we don't want to cause the cost -- the ratepayers more than necessary, so it's not as cavalier as you might say.  We look at every detail to ensure that the costs doesn't increase.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't doubt that for a minute.  Bottom-up budgeting is like that.

What I'm driving at is something quite different, and that is most organizations -- that I've seen, anyway, and certainly many of the ones that come before this Board -- have a top-down analysis, as well.  They do a bottom-up budget for sure, but they also do a top-down analysis where they say:  What's a reasonable total amount?

You have to do that in an IRM year anyway, don't you?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say we do it in both cases, either cost of service or in or IRM period.

There's a certain amount of return or net income the shareholder is looking for.  Just because we need to do things, they're also looking at our net income, what we plan to spend on, do we have enough cash.

It's not just one side of the equation to say:  In a cost of service you just come in and if you get your rates, it's wonderful.

I would say that in order to manage it effectively, a cost of service is just one step into managing our system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand what you are saying, and I guess the thing I don't understand is, in an IRM year, your reasonableness test is you already know what your revenues are going to be or you can forecast them, and you already know what your shareholder wants.  And so your reasonableness test is:  How much can I do within that spending limit?  You have a top-down limit.

How is that limit set in cost of service?  Yet -- we've asked you many times and you haven't given us an answer.

MR. MACUMBER:  Because I would say we did a detailed, bottoms-up budget.  We put together what we need to run the utility.  We submitted that in order to earn the regulated rate of return.

It's not the other way around.  We didn't come in and say:  This is what we need to spend; please give it to me so I could -- it was:  This is what we need to do; allow me to earn a rate of return on it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there was nothing, there was no test or no analysis that you did that asked the question:  Is 14.5 percent overall rate increase too much, too little, just about right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I can't comment on your 14.5.  I can tell you when we put it together our deficiency was 16 million and something, and this is what we expect to do in 2013, and we're looking for a return on the investments we're making.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then that is different than in an IRM year, right?

In this year, you look at how much you need to spend and you say:  Well, we'll go to the Board we'll and ask for it.

In an IRM year, you can't do that, right?  If this was an IRM year right now and you needed to spend this money, you couldn't spend $135 million or whatever the number is, because your shareholder wouldn't let you, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Well, I would say even from 2009 through 2012, we have continued to spend and we have not earned the regulated rate of return.

So your question is:  Does the shareholder look at net income?  Yes.  And do they look at reliability and safety, et cetera?  Yes, they do.

We have not earned the regulated rate of return.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You've been pretty close, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I -- I guess that's relative.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In 2013, if you were on IRM and you spent what you are proposing to this Board to spend, you would not earn any rate of return, right?  Or almost nothing?  It would be very low, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I'm sure it would be lower than if we were on an IRM.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And your shareholder wouldn't let you do that?

MR. MACUMBER:  See, I'm not sure of the question.  I would say that the shareholders would say to us that it's not sustainable to continue to make investments that they are not earning a return on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could turn to page 25.  I just have a couple of quick questions on this issue, and then that may be a good time to break, Madam Chair.

Take a look at page 25.  This is, again, in the technical conference, I think?  Yes.

We're trying to find out whether you used some sort of external metrics to assess whether a budget that's been proposed is sensible.  Cost per -- per line kilometre, for example.  There's lots that different utilities use.

Your answer -- or I think Mr. Morrison's answer was no, you don't use any such metrics, right?

MR. PASTORIC:  I can go only go by the text there.  And I believe if -- Mr. Morrison is very capable.  He would have given the right answer, so I will agree with that answer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I'm trying to understand, then.

I guess, then, when you look at a budget, Mr. Macumber, you look at a budget from a finance point of view, or, Mr. Pastoric, you look at the budgets of your direct reports as they move up the chain.

You're using judgment, right?  You're not using any metric, you are not using any tests to see what's reasonable; you are using judgment?

MR. PASTORIC:  We use year-over-year.  We know exactly what type of work we plan to do.  So from that point of view, it's a reasonable test to -- on, frankly, down to each project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  That's fine.

Madam Chair, that's probably a good time to break.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And how much longer do you expect to be?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am -- I anticipated this.  I am 50 minutes into an hour and 50 minute, so I've got about an hour.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So, Mr. Vegh, was Enersource -- do you have a preference as to whether or not we begin panel 3 today or not?

We would be content, since on the time estimates there wouldn't appear to be any risk that we would not be able to complete panel 3 and panel 4 tomorrow, but does the company have a preference?

MR. VEGH:  Yes.  We would prefer to move ahead with panel 3.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Today?  Okay.

And, Mr. Aiken, you are going to remain available for the balance of the day?  All right.  Thank you.

We will rise now until 1:30.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:29 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:37 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  Do we have any preliminary matters?  No preliminary matters.  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

The next area I want to ask a few questions about is productivity.  And if we could start -- could you take a look at page 22 of our materials, witnesses?  This is from the technical conference, and we asked you some questions with respect to CCC No. 10.  We don't need to look at CCC number 10, because I'm not going into the details of it.

This is about productivity initiatives and how they translate into savings in the test year.  And if you see at the top of the next page, page 23 of our materials, that's what CCC asked.  And your answer, Mr. Macumber, starting at line 12 is:
"That's not so much you are going to have cost savings.  It's cost avoidance."


So can you just explain the difference between the two?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say cost savings is where you are incurring costs that you've done something to make it either more productive, efficiently, so that you save costs.  Cost avoidance in our context is -- what I've said is we do a detailed bottoms-up budget and, if there's things we've improved, we don't put those costs in the budgets for the following year.

So we're avoiding continuously spending those costs.  There is a slight difference between savings and cost avoidance.  We have a limited amount of resources, like I keep on mentioning, and we try to use them efficiently and effectively.

So cost avoidance is where you've done something so you don't spend in the future.  Cost savings is something you are spending on currently that you can lower the cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So cost savings is where a particular element of costs or area of your business the cost goes down.  Cost avoidance is where is costs would have gone up, but because of the productivity measures or efficiency measures you are putting in play, it will not go up as much.  Is that fair?

MR. MACUMBER:  Fair enough.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this was a theme we saw in a number of areas.  And if you could take a look at page 27 of our materials, this is another example.  We're asking Mr. Morrison about your additional inspections you are proposing.  I think this is for substations.  And we asked, Well, so isn't that going to reduce costs?  And Mr. Morrison says, starting at line 21:
"It will be less than if we didn't do the inspections, but it won't necessarily trend downwards."


And that's the same thing, right?  That is, your costs in a particular area are going to go up, aging infrastructure, et cetera, and, if you put in place some productivity measures, they won't go up at quite the same trajectory; is that fair?

MR. MACUMBER:  It's fair, but I would say doing more inspections, our plan is to spend even more wisely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let's follow that up.  If you look at the next page, page 28 of our materials, we asked the question:  What are the incremental OM&A costs and savings associated with improved management of assets?  This is from issue 4.1, IR No. 28.

And your response was:  We've already told what you the incremental OM&A costs are.

And we were actually sort of driving at the incremental savings.  We were more interested in that.  So if you take a look two pages on - this is also in the technical conference - page 30 of our materials -- sorry, 31 of our materials -- where is it?

I lied.  It's 33 in our materials.  We talk about this with you in the technical conference, and we asked you, So is there going to be -- or asked Mr. Morrison, I guess, at the time:  Is there going to be some savings in the long term?  Is there going to be a reduction in OM&A because you're doing these inspections so you won't have more emergency repairs to do?

And I take it, if you look through that answer back and forth over to page 64, that the key is the exchange at lines 20 to 23, Mr. Macumber, where I said:
"So the future without the plan would be more expensive than the future with the plan."

And your answer was:
"That's what we believe."


You see that?  It's page 34 of our materials.

MR. MACUMBER:  That is what I said, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's the same concept, that you are going to spend this extra money on inspections and we're not -- there's not actually going to be a saving, per se, but the trajectory of cost increases will be lower?

MR. MACUMBER:  No.  Well, I think what we're trying to really land on is that we want to do more inspections, more analysis of our systems, because our system is aging and we want to spend our money more wisely.

I can -- I'm speculating on whether or not it's going to reduce costs in the future.  Our plan is that we spend our money more wisely; therefore, we're hoping to reduce costs in the future.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you take a look at the bottom of that page, we asked, Well, didn't anybody ask you what's the payoff?  When is there going to be some savings?  And we said, Did they do that and did you produce such a document, up at the top of the next page?  And your answer was, No, we did not produce that.

And if you go on, you'll see that you said there is no one analysis as to whether there was a payoff.  So you didn't actually sit down and figure out, How are we going to get a benefit from this in the long term, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  No, we did not.  We looked at the Board guidelines.  They asked for an asset management plan, and they expect utilities to do an asset condition assessment, which they say is not required, but they would question why you wouldn't have done one.

We're suggesting that by doing one and by being able to plan better, again, that we could manage our aging infrastructure in a more efficient and effective manner.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess what I'm asking is, you know, when you embark on new initiatives in an organization, often you are required by management or your board, or you require of yourselves, that you do a fairly rigorous analysis in which you say, This is what we're going to spend and this is the benefit we're going to get from it, here's the dollars we're going to get and when we're going to get them; a typical business case.

You didn't do anything like that for the asset management plan?

MR. MACUMBER:  No.  I think what I'm really trying to say, again, is that we have much more requirements than what we can do.  So by doing more inspections, more analysis of our system and being able to plan better, we can spend our money more wisely in the areas that need to be spent.  And, again, it's effective and efficiency, rather than the savings that will be generated from that.

Our hope is we make better decisions in the future with that information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But better decisions won't translate into lower costs?

MR. MACUMBER:  They may, but, again, it's where we spend the money.  We want to get the most out of the money that we spend.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you can move on to page 36 of our materials.  This is a different area, but same concept.  We were talking about the incremental cost of your new AR manager and your outsourced collection agency costs.  This is, again, in the technical conference.  And we ask:  So you are going spend 343,000, but you are going to save $750,000 in bad debt expense?

And I think your answer - tell me whether this is right - is that, We're not actually going to save $750,000.  It's just not going to go up as much as you thought.

MR. MACUMBER:  In 2011 -- well, late 2010 -- from 2008 to 2010, our bad debt kept on increasing.  In early 2011, we proposed to hire a temporary AR manager to stem the flow or increases in bad debt expense.

We had forecasted at that time that our bad debt expense, by the time it came to 2013, would be in the range of about 4.3 million.  So we made a conscious decision to hire a temporary manager.

We went out for an RFP for two collection agencies to try to send the accounts that we could not collect at all, see if we could get some return on the debts that we had written off.  Our concept would be that by hiring them and doing these analyses, we would see a reduction in the bad debt expense, not a further increase.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the reduction isn't the 750 you were talking about.  It's much, much less than that.

MR. MACUMBER:  By not hiring them, we believe it would have been in the $4.3 million range.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so I guess I'm wondering how are you then going to test whether you were successful in this if your starting point is an assumption that things are going to get worse, and -- rather than testing against your existing performance?

MR. MACUMBER:  I'm having a hard time with your question, because I would say that actually almost everything we do, by rebuilding it, by maintaining it, you have to make certain assumptions of "what if" would occur.

We assume that if we did nothing, it would increase.  By doing something, we believe that we've improved it and forecasted, that but I can't tell you what would have happened if I did not do it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you didn't do that analysis?

MR. MACUMBER:  We did the analysis, and it was 4.3 million.

What I'm saying is after I hired them and when you put the things put in place, we saw an improvement.

So I can't tell you what it would be if I didn't hire them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I wonder if you can turn to page 39 of our materials.  This is a question about the additional money you are planning to spend on web self-service.

And this is to expand the functionality of your website and to give your customers more functionality on the internet, right?

MR. NUNES:  Yeah.  I'm here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you on this panel, Mr. --


MR. NUNES:  I'm part of the panel too, yeah.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I apologize.  I didn't even see you there.  Did I ask you the preliminary questions?  I guess you were on the first panel too, right?

MR. NUNES:  I was at the technical conference too.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we looked at this interrogatory response, which starts on page 39, and if you go to page 41, this is actually your whole business case, right?  For this project?

MR. NUNES:  It is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  First let me ask just a detail question.  If you see near the bottom of page 41 of our materials, it says:  "Capital costs funded by board."  Whose board?

MR. MACUMBER:  That is our board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Board of directors?

MR. MACUMBNER:  We would -- being presented to our board of directors for approval during our budgeting process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. MACUMBER:  Just terminology.  That's all.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the real question I have about this is under "Justification" the first sentence talks about, quote:

"...to further reduce costs to Enersource customer service."

And so we asked you about this in the technical conference.  Mr. Nunes, you said -- you see this at page 42 of our materials.  We asked will there be savings, and you said probably in the future, but you haven't estimated them.

So I'm not sure how I can understand how you can spend this additional money if you don't know what your savings are going to be.

MR. NUNES:  Well, in this case, we know that we need those services for our customer base.  That's not something that we can choose not to offer.  Excuse me.  But what we're really talking about is adoption rate.

So that answer was really about when do the savings start, and it really does depend on adoption rate.  Fax machines were invented about 10 years before they were adopted to any reasonable level.

So we will be observing the adoption rate as the new functionality goes in, and it may affect us in future rate apps.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you didn't do any analysis of this?  Like, what your earliest adoption rate is, latest adoption rate is, or anything like that, right?

MR. NUNES:  To my understanding is -– I've been there since January, and my understanding is no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Keep your finger on page 41, but if you take a look at page 26 of our material, you'll see this is actually the next page in the transcript; it just happens to be out of order.

And we asked:  Well, have you looked at the experience of other consumer-oriented organizations, Rogers Cable, people like that who use the internet more extensively?  And your answer was no.

Why would you not investigate?  If you are going to spend some money on a new initiative, why would you not investigate what other people have already learned?

MR. PASTORIC:  I'll just jump in there.

Our experience with Rogers and various other ones, their call wait times are in the 30 to 40 minutes, and I believe we have to do 30 seconds, so it's a kind of a different realm.

Self-service, I think everyone is going self-service. It's a demand.  We don't have an app.  Some utilities have apps. One day we will adopt an app.  Will we say how fast we will?  We may talk to Ottawa; I'm aware of that.  I saw their press announcement.

But at this time it's hard to say what adoption rates -- the internet has exploded.  Seems like everyone is communicating with everyone immediately these days, but it's like pre-authorized payment.  We have certain adoption rates there, but we can't extrapolate that to how self-service will -- dealing with customer moves and information that they are providing there.  It's hard to tell.  We're waiting to see.

I'm hoping within a year's time we'll have a good experience with it and see what these adoption rates were.

MR. NUNES:  Given that a lot of this won't go into production until 2013, it may affect our 2014 OM&A rate app, but we'll be trending the adoption rate at that time and we'll be able to see how that might affect us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the actual spending decision, then, is a spending decision based not on the fact that you are going to get certain savings at a certain period of time in the future, but rather that the customers want it and you have to spend it?

MR. PASTORIC:  Well, I must say the internet is something that it seems to be what the customers like to use.  We're moving in a long term, I'll call it, from supported services to instantaneous self-service.  They can have their service any time they want it, but there's a lot of growth in understanding that a utility has to go through before it gets to that point of technology.

So we're taking baby steps.  Do I know exactly the adoption rates?  No.  Frankly, I don't know if anybody will use it, but I'm hoping some will, and once we see it then we'll start putting more dollars into the internet interface.  Hopefully we can cut a lot of costs in the future, but to predict what it's going to be in the next two years, I have no idea.

And I don't mind taking $200,000, which I think the customers will appreciate, as well as something that will be a learning experience.  I think that's a good use of money.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is one of a number of questions I've been asking over the course of the last few minutes to try to get to the question:  Do you ever, when you're planning to spend money or when somebody proposes to spend money within your organization, do you ever sit down and say:  Here's the cost, here's the dollar -- forecast dollar benefits, that that justifies the costs?

Can you give us an example of that?  Because we've been asking all the way through this process and we haven't got one yet.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. PASTORIC:  I would say that it's more of a direction for the company from the point of view of where we saw the benefit, versus a calculation which comes down to whatever number or level you choose as a break point or a crossover point.

I would say that we sit down and look at it, strategize it, see if there's value in our opinions, our collective opinions, which -- we have individuals from previous banking industry, previous pharmaceutical industry and various industries, but we don't go out and start to spend money on studies or consultants.  We don't spend very much on consultants at all in the company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't as a matter of practice and you can't give me an example of any cost-benefit analysis that you've done?

MR. PASTORIC:  Not at the top of my mind right at this moment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I can move on to a new area.  This is the allocations of shared corporate costs.  If you take a look at page 43 of our materials, this is the 2008 actuals for corporate costs.

And I see here the total costs of the Enersource Corporation, if you like, the total of all costs was about 10 million, of which 8.36 million was allocated to the utility; is that right?

MR. MACUMBER:  That's what we filed, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then we go to 2013 and we see that your costs have gone up to 11.6 million.  So that's not a terrible increase, I guess.  I have a little -- I've lost my note on this, really lost it.

So that's going up about 16 percent, right, the total cost of the service, but the amount you've allocated has gone up significantly more?

The amount has gone up to 10.9 from 8.3.  So do you want to describe why that is?

MR. MACUMBER:  I described it in the technical conference and yesterday, and it's been provided in the evidence.  I have stated in 2006 the plan -- we divested of the telecom business and our water heater business and believed we were going to grow our non-regulated side of the company.

We were unable to do so, and during 2008, I believe, we sat down with each of the areas and determined a better way to allocate costs was revenue and head count.  We agreed to that, renewed or changed our share services agreement between the two companies, and began allocating the cost out on revenue or head count, rather than where our intentions were that the companies would be going.

And as I stated yesterday, if anything, the non-regulated company overpaid between '6 and '8, because no growth in those businesses occurred.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, actually, that's interesting you say that, because you asked -- you were asked:  Was the unregulated subsidizing the regulated business?  And you say:
"No, I believe our original allocation was appropriate at the time."

So you specifically said there was no subsidiary, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Right.  And I would go back and still say that, because during the periods that we were allocating the costs, each of the companies agreed to the charge.  So they weren't over- or undercharged.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. MACUMBER:  If you agree to a charge, then I would assume that you haven't been over- or undercharged.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You mean if Mr. Pastoric agrees with his boss that 10.9 million is okay, that that's the end of it?

MR. MACUMBER:  No.  I would say when we put the budget together and we did the allocation methodology, if it was assumed you were going to grow your business and you agreed to that share of the corporate allocation and it didn't materialize, you didn't overpay or underpay.  You paid what you agreed to pay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you take a look at page 47 of our material, we asked you whether there was -- whether there was more work or the utility was getting more value.  And your answer was:  The time spent by the people didn't or the work they performed did not change.

So the utility is paying more for the same service; is that right?

MR. MACUMBER:  No.  That's not what I'm saying.  I'm saying that when we put a budget together and we do a shared service model, it is determined how is the cost going to be allocated.  And we determine on each budgeting cycle or each year how that cost is going to be allocated.

You are asking me about the head count in the business, do they do more or less work, and, again, I'll say it's how they charged out their work, not the work they are actually performing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but the utility got a service, right, from the parent company, and what you are proposing is the utility pay more for the same service, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I'm saying since 2009 we have been charging the utility more for the service because they, in theory, underpaid, if you look at what the people were doing in the Enersource Corporation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, but I just asked you about that, and you said, No, they didn't underpay.  You say, and I quote, if you take a look at the top of page 48 of our materials:
"I believe that our original allocation was appropriate at the time."

So they didn't underpay, did they?

MR. MACUMBER:  Again, I keep on saying I agree - and I said it then and that I'll say it now - that they paid for the share that they agreed to pay.  What I'm saying is, if we redo the model and the non-regulated side of the company did not expand, then they need to pay less.

Now, the work that people did did not significantly change, other than for IFRS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So help me understand this.  You staffed up on the assumption that your non-regulated business was going to be growing and expanding, and then you changed your mind and said, Okay, we're not going to do that.

Why did you need so many staff, then?

MR. MACUMBER:  Enersource Corporation did not staff up.  It was out non-regulated business that would have staffed up.  The amount of transactions and amount that Enersource Corp. provides to them significantly did not change, other than for IFRS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This increase in the allocated cost, it's about 2.5 million, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  Are you looking from 2008?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, from 2008.

MR. MACUMBER:  The allocation has gone up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You had a table of OM&A cost drivers.  Is that in there somewhere, because I couldn't find it?  I looked at the list and I couldn't find it.

MR. MACUMBER:  A majority of the costs that are in Enersource Corporation are for head count.  We have stated that one VP position moved from Enersource Hydro.  We hired two additional finance staff to manage the new requirements of IFRS.  We converted an internal auditor position in 2008 from a temporary to a permanent position.

It's mostly head count or labour-related costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, except that I looked at appendix 2-G, which is your OM&A cost driver table, and I couldn't find anywhere where this 2.5 million could have been hidden.

So I'm wondering if you can undertake to take a look at appendix 2-G and tell us where the increase in the corporate costs of two-and-a-half million dollars is in that table.

MR. VEGH:  For Mr. Shepherd's benefit, there is explicit evidence on this point at Exhibit 4, schedule 1, table 1.  There's a reference to the executive, admin and corporate allocation costs, and then there's a specific schedule that goes through those costs in some detail.  That's schedule 8 of the same exhibit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that will answer my question, then?  I'm sorry, I missed that.  That will answer my question?

MR. MACUMBER:  In the evidence, we provided all the shared services cost and what the corporation does for Enersource Hydro.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's 4-1-1, schedule 8, right?

MR. VEGH:  4-1-1 and 4-1-1, schedule 8.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I want to move on, then, to a couple of specific cost categories I didn't understand.  And the first is on page 49 of our materials.  It's undertaking JT2.5, an undertaking you gave out of the technical conference.

This relates to call volumes.  Do you have that?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We were trying to nail down the call centre costs.  So if you take a look at page 50, the question that you were undertaking to answer is:  How did you get to your forecast for 2012, because then we could then look at 2013 after that, right?

And you gave us a detailed table showing what your 2012 forecast was month by month.  Do you see that on page 50?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you accept, subject to check, that for the first six months your forecast was 92,847 calls?

MR. MACUMBER:  You've just added up January to June, so I'm assuming that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  Okay.  Then you were asked by Energy Probe Interrogatory 4, which is on page 51 of our materials:  What is your year to date for that?

And your year to date for calls, if you see on page 52 of our materials, was 72,234.  So that's 20,000 less.  You haven't changed your forecast, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  We assume we're actually going to have less calls.  We believe that our time-of-use rollout went fairly smoothly.  We had anticipated many additional calls throughout the period.  They have not materialized.  So I'm assuming our communications with our staff has -- or with our ratepayers has gone well.

So we have not seen the increase that we had forecasted.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the result of that appears to me to be that you'll be about 40,000 less calls this year.  Is that reasonable?

MR. PASTORIC:  It's unfortunate we can't really forecast – the summer was a hot summer and the bills haven't hit yet.  So it's difficult to really give an indication of how the customers will react to the summer hot weather.  So if you ask me this question in about two months, I'll be able to tell you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you have to forecast, right?  You did forecast?

MR. PASTORIC:  We haven't changed our forecast at this point in time, I don't believe.  I might be speaking out of turn.

MR. MACUMBER:  From a financial side, yes, we anticipate were going to have less calls.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is 40,000 about right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I went with the dollar figure of -- by the trending on how much we've saved.  I have about -- our forecast for the call centres to be favourable for 2012, about 200,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I had 276, so we're in ballpark, right?

Are you reducing the forecast for 2013, as well?

MR. MACUMBER:  We had not changed the number for 2013.  That was just our forecast that we just put together now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Would it be reasonable to reduce the forecast for 2013?

MR. MACUMBER:  I actually believe, yes, it would.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Is 200 about right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would suggest that 200 is the appropriate figure that we will be favourable in 2013.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.

Then the last one, the last thing I want to ask you about is on page 60 of our materials.

And, Madam Chair, I've just skipped over a couple or areas where we had some stuff in the materials that was completely irrelevant to my questions.  I don't know how it got in there, but I'm just going to pretend it's not there.

On page 60, we have Undertaking JT2.2, and this talks about vacancies.  And you'll see the discussion of how vacancies are budgeted on page 61 and 62 of our materials.

Do you recall that, Mr. Macumber?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We had this discussion in the technical conference, I think.

And I take it it's fair to summarize this as the 2K assumes every position is filled, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say that the 2K, the way it's been filled in is 2008 rates is what was approved, 2008 to '12 would be the actual FTEs, 2012 and '13 would be the forecasted full FTEs, not dollars.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So 2008 through 2012 have vacancies built in?

MR. MACUMBER:  2008 through '11 actuals would already have vacancies in, because the dollars wouldn't have been spent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they're real people filling real positions, yes?  Not just positions; it's people in positions?

MR. MACUMBER:  Right.  And they are not there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In 2012 and '13 on the 2K, you are assuming that every position that you have authorized is filled?

MR. MACUMBER:  On 2K, it was filled in that way, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then if I understand what page 60 says and what this discussion you had with me in the technical conference is, is that when you do your engineering and operations -- operating costs, you then reduce those costs by an amount to cover the vacancies, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  I think we do it on a total basis.  That's just where we remove the cost.  We removed it out that line for vacancies for that period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's not just engineering and operations vacancies, is --


MR. MACUMBER:  No.  That's where we remove the cost, is what we're suggesting.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's just for simplicity?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a shortcut?  Okay.

So I looked at this and I see that your last actual was 32 vacancies, but you're forecasting in the test year 16 vacancies; why is that?

MR. MACUMBER:  We assume that we're going to fill the positions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This happened once before in 2008, right?  Where you forecast 20, and actually in 2008 you had 29, right?

MR. MACUMBER:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the same thing could happen in 2013, couldn't it?

MR. MACUMBER:  Again, knowing when somebody is working and when they are not working, when they retire, when they don't retire, when they quit to find another job, I would be speculating on what the actual headcount number will be.

I'm trying to estimate what we believe the 2013 test year will be like.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if your 2013 actual is similar to your most recent actual, 32, am I right that, as a shortcut, I could just take the adjustment in 2011, 789, deduct the adjustment in 2013, 448, to get an impact of 341?

That's about -- that's going to be in the ballpark, right?

If in 2013, you had 32 --


MR. MACUMBER:  I would say 2011 would seem an unusually high year.  I would say if you look at 2010 actual, it was only 18.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking what's reasonable.  I'm asking if it were -- if 32 were the actual number in 2013, would we be estimating reasonably accurately to say the impact of that is 341,000?  Am I going to be in the ballpark?

MR. MACUMBER:  If you take 32 positions times the average salary, you are going to be in ballpark.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

I have no more questions, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

Ms. Helt?

MS. HELT:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Helt:


MS. HELT:  I only have a few questions, so my cross-examination will be quite short.  And I will be dealing specifically with respect to issue 8.3:

"Are the deferral and variance accounts, including both existing and proposed new accounts, appropriate?"

And specifically, I'm going to be seeking information with respect to the request to establish a deferral account relating to the costs of inspecting or certifying installed suite meters.  So if we can refer to Board Staff compendium, it was marked the other day as Exhibit K2.3.  And if we can turn to page 8 of the compendium -- or 7 and 8, I'm sorry.

This is a copy of Board Staff Interrogatory No. 36, and in the preamble -- I'll just wait for Mr. Killeen to pull it up.

If we look at look at page 7 at the bottom of the page, question b):

"Did Enersource request the establishment of a variance or deferral account to record the $141,000 in costs which will be incurred in 2012 for future recovery in 2013 and 2014?"

In the response to question b) Enersource states it did not request the establishment of a variance account.  And if we turn over the page, if we look at the first full paragraph, the second sentence:

"Enersource received an extension from Measurement Canada to perform the work over a three-year period."

And this is the sentence I want to ask about:

"Enersource will remove the request for recovery and will be seeking approval of a deferral account to track the expenses and will seek recovery during its next cost of service application."

So can you just clarify for us whether or not Enersource is seeking approval to establish a deferral account relating to the cost for inspecting or certifying suite meters in this proceeding?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. HELT:  So -- all right.  Then Enersource is not seeking recovery of this deferral account in this proceeding, but you are seeking recovery in a future proceeding; is that correct?

MR. MACUMBER:  That is correct.  We're still going through the process of how much it's going to cost.  We had a forecast, but we believe that it's going to cost us more than we originally thought.  But at this time, we're still trying to land on the contract with the company that is going to perform the work, so we don't have enough information.  And we haven't spent the money for recovery at this time.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.

If we can now turn to page 12 of the compendium, this is an excerpt from the Board's filing requirements for electricity transmission and distribution applications.

On page 12, this is something we talked about the other day with respect to the establishment of deferral and variance accounts.  And at the top of the page, there's the criteria set out with respect to causation, materiality and prudence.

Could you confirm for me that Enersource has forecasted costs of approximately 141,000 and 211,000 for both 2012 and 2013?  So that amount is 352,000, which you are proposing to record in the deferral account; is that correct?

MR. MACUMBER:  That was your original forecast.  We haven't landed on the additional work or what is going to be done over the three-year period yet.

MS. HELT:  But that is the amount you are proposing now to have recorded in the deferral account?

MR. MACUMBER:  That was our original proposal.  At this time, we are just seeking for a deferral account just to track the cost.  Again, I would look at it this way.  If it's not material, then we wouldn't be seeking recovery in the future either.

MS. HELT:  "Not material", meaning that it does not meet the material threshold?

MR. MACUMBER:  It does not meet the materiality threshold.  It's more of an account that we believe that we have to do the work.  It's prudent that we do the work, but at this time I can't land on what the forecast is for how much work or how much dollars that's going to be.

MS. HELT:  All right, thank you.  If the amounts were incorporated into base rates, then, approximately, if you divide the 352,000 over four years, there would be about 88,000 reflected in the revenue requirement.  Would that be correct?

MR. MACUMBER:  That's what we had forecasted, yes.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  So I would just like to confirm.  At this point, you've indicated that the amount in the account does not meet the materiality threshold, and just to remind you, from what we discussed the other day, that would be about 0.5 percent of the revenue requirement.  So that amounts to approximately 658,000 for the threshold; is that correct?

MR. MACUMBER:  Again, if we're assuming it's capital and operating, that would be the number.  Our original forecast would be under that number.

MS. HELT:  Then just one last question, and it was a similar question to what I asked you previously with respect to deferral and variance accounts.

If you look at page 12 of the compendium just under where the criteria for materiality is set out, the last paragraph before the middle of the page:
"In addition, applicants must include a draft accounting order which must include a description of the mechanics of the account, including providing examples of general ledger entries and the manner in which the applicant proposes to dispose of the account at the appropriate time."

And this is for those applicants who are seeking an accounting order to establish a deferral and variance account.  So would you be prepared to provide a draft accounting order for the requested deferral account?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say it would be similar to the requests or the conversation we had yesterday.  Yes, Enersource would be prepared to do a draft accounting order.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Just a moment, please.  Thank you.  I have no further questions.
Questions by the Board:


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  I have just two areas.  One, just on this request for deferral account, can you summarize why -- like, I see the evidence here that you are still negotiating the contract.  You're not so sure about the forecast.

But given the small amount vis-à-vis your entire revenue requirement, why are you seeking a deferral account for this?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say it goes more to the cost forecast.  We're quite unsure how much we're actually going to spend on it, and, again, I'll reiterate that it may be a deferral account we request.  We haven't landed on whether or not it would be material enough to clear through rates in the future, as well.  It would be more of a way of tracking it to see if it becomes material.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So your concern is that it might become material, and in which case, if you didn't a deferral account, there would be no opportunity to recover it?

MR. MACUMBER:  That would be our intention, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So as I understand, although this amount per year -- I'm assuming you haven't technically removed it from your revenue requirement?

MR. MACUMBER:  Which one?

MS. CHAPLIN:  The 88,000.

MR. MACUMBER:  We did file an update and remove it.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So you have removed it.  I mean, an alternative approach would have been to have included it, which -- and then manage the variance -- either seek a variance account, or manage the variance within your overall budget.

Did you consider that option, and what was your conclusion on that?

MR. MACUMBER:  It was more due to the uncertainty of when the expenses were going to be incurred.  We weren't sure if it was appropriate to charge ratepayers for something if we were unsure of the exact timing and the amount.

MS. CHAPLIN:  How does that activity differ from other activities that you undertake where the precise timing 
is --


MR. MACUMBER:  I think it's more that we haven't done this, and we were required to by Measurement Canada.  So we have to go through the process to determine what it is first and exactly what we have to do.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  I realize that you have testified extensively on comparability, and total cost measures and measures per customer.

There's just a couple of questions I would like to put to you so I can ensure I understand the position.  And that is -- this sort of springs from -- I'm afraid I can't give you a precise reference, but it does spring from some comments you've made about how utilities would differ -- how the relationship around different types of customers affects this measure.

So in a very simplistic - I agree a very simplistic - example, you might have one customer that uses 100 kilowatt hours, and you might have 100 -- another utility might have 100 customers that use one kilowatt-hour.

What would the total costs -- do you have a particular expectation as to what the total costs per kilowatt-hour would be for those two utilities?

MR. PASTORIC:  I guess my answer will be a catch-all answer that it really depends on a lot of the topology of the utility, if it's underground, overhead, the length of lines.

I would assume -- you have a billing system, so the billing system cost itself would be the same, and then you have -- mailing costs would be different, because you have one customer compared to 100 customers.  But those are what I would classify as fairly in significant costs compared to the distribution system itself.

So the administration fees are fairly small, comparative.  You do have call handling.  That would be different between the two utilities, one with a lot of consumers.  You would assume that consumers call.  If you only have one consumer, it's not going to call every day or several times in that day.

So I would assume it would be different, but I would have to do more thought and go through every category and say yes or no to it.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So there's not a generalized answer.  It would depend upon the specific circumstances?

MR. PASTORIC:  Yes, absolutely.  That's why we don't give comparisons.  We believe that there are so many differences that by the time we give you all the caveats about someone else, it sort of negates the comparison.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Can you help me, because maybe I've gone astray somewhere?  You've also explained how a large customer may or may not be less expensive to serve on a per kilowatt-hour basis than another type -- than a residential customer.

I believe that comparison was put to you, and you said it would depend?

MR. PASTORIC:  Again, and I hate to keep using this, but if I'm dealing with a large airport, it has long feeders.  Because of its topology, you can't have businesses right up against the airport.  It has four feeders.

If you are dealing with a small industrial customer, you may be on half a feeder, which is a very different situation, if you've got different protection equipment requirements.  In the case of the airport, they've got triple redundancy because of -- I think it's a federal statute that they have to have more redundancy than anyone else.

There's multiple levels of constraints you have with different customers because of their sector.  The airport is very uniquely different.

Water purification plants are similar where, let's just say, you don't want an environmental spill, because they don't work anymore, so there's a lot more that we deal with the water purification plants than we would do with a Mac's Milk store -- sorry, I shouldn't use the names of companies, but a generic convenience store.


MS. CHAPLIN:  But if we look at the rates that customers pay, do your large-use customers pay a same rate per kilowatt-hour residential customer?  Net, net?


I mean, you have more than one rate class; everybody isn't on the same rate class?  I mean, if everybody's cost per kilowatt-hour was sort of the same, you would only have one rate class, and you don't.


So if my - maybe my presumption is incorrect, and please correct me if I'm wrong - that on a per-kilowatt-hour basis or volume basis, shall we say, large users pay less than residential customers, how does the whole thing 
-- maybe that's incorrect, but if it is correct, how does the whole thing square?


MR. BONADIE:  I was just going to say that it is correct, that large users do pay a lower proportion than the residential. 


MS. CHAPLIN:  And presumably they are paying less per volume?


MR. BONADIE:  Per volume.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Because the costs are less per volume?


MR. BONADIE:  Correct.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So does that lead you to revise your explanation?


That seems to suggest large users are less expensive to serve on a volume basis than smaller customers. 


[Witness panel confers]


MR. MACUMBER:  I would say that -- again, that we build our system for the total throughput, to service each customer differently, depending on the if it is, like, an airport or a larger user, depending on how far away they are and how much line and how much feeders and transformers it takes to feed them.


You're suggesting that they pay less on the amount of throughput, but that could be how much cost gets allocated to them, if we go through the cost allocation model and how much they pay of the revenue requirement.  Therefore, by making a general statement that they pay less, could be a product of your -- the way the system is, the way you've allocated cost and how you've divided up the revenue requirement.


So it's not as simple as a general statement saying that they generally pay less on the throughput.  It's also how you divide up your revenue requirement.


MS. CHAPLIN:  But the cost allocation model, generally speaking, is designed to reflect cost causation?  Would that be your understanding, Mr. Bonadie?


MR. BONADIE:  That's correct.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Faye, I believe, was also asking you some questions about how your costs varied, or if, in fact, they did vary when volume varied from year to year.  I wasn't quite sure of your answer, so I would like to put that question -- essentially put that question to you again, which is -- but slightly differently.


How sensitive are your OM&A and capital or your total costs year over year to volume -- volume fluctuations? 


MR. PASTORIC:  I guess what I would say is the dollars per kilowatt-hour, we don't control the denominator, which the kilowatt-hours.  We may influence it with some of our DSM programs, but we don't control it.


Where we do control, I guess, is the OM&A and capital.


Capital, there is a lot of -- I'll call it fixed or required services.  Like when a customer comes into our utility, you must connect a customer within a certain period of time.  So that's a given; that's nothing that we can sort of slow down on.


So everything that deals with a new customer, a load, is a given there.


Dealing with OM&A, if there is an emergency, we do it comes back to -- I think there was a discussion regarding discretionary or non-discretionary.  We hold that almost everything is discretionary, except when it meets a requirement either by the OEB or safety.  Those are the only non-discretionary ones; everything else is discretionary.  We will slow down rebuilds; we'll delay it if it's not appropriate.


When it comes to tree-cutting, we may cut more often or less often, depending on what's happening in the year and cash.


But it's kind of dynamic, but there are some things that we can influence, like slowing down rebuilds.


But all the customer-driven work, we must do, so I would say that is non-discretionary, as well as the emergency.


So we do play with it.  Maybe that's the wrong word to use, but we do manage it, but it's not something that we have total control over.  The denominator we don't control, and, frankly, part of the OM&A and part of the capital we don't control, because it's driven by our customers rather than our ourselves.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you very much.


Mr. Vegh, do you have any questions in re-examination?


MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Just one.

Re-Examination by Mr. Vegh:

MR. VEGH:  Mr. Bonadie, this is for you and I would appreciate a clarification.


The reference is the AMPCO compendium, Exhibit K.3.1.  There's a reference to Board Staff Interrogatory 45, which is three to four pages in.  Do you have that?


The table in the response has a revenue-to-cost ratio 2008 settlement, 2013 proposed.  And I frankly wasn't able to follow the exchange between you and counsel between whether or not the current approach to cost allocation had an impact -- or a change in the current approach to the proposed approach had the impact of changing the cost allocation attributable to residential customers from 85 percent to 90 percent, or from 91.5 percent to 90 percent.


Could you provide a clarification on that for me, please?


MR. BONADIE:  Sure.  So in that chart that you see there, the 2008 settlement revenue-to-cost ratio for residential was 91.5 percent.  That is based on the first version of the model that relied on the 2004 test year data.


In updating the cost allocation model, this time around for the 2013 test year data, we ran based on current rates and achieved an 85 percent revenue-to-cost ratio, or that's what the model determined the revenue-to-cost ratio for residential to be.


Enersource then moved or proposes to move that revenue-cost ratio for residential to 90 percent.


MR. VEGH:  So if the rates are reset as proposed, the residential class revenue goes from 85 percent to 90 percent, or from 91.5 to 90 percent?


MR. BONADIE:  Again, based on the second version of the model, it's going from 85 percent to 90 percent.


MR. VEGH:  Thank you. 


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


This panel is excused with the Board's thanks.


I believe we are certainly going to continue with panel 3.  I also understand that it's quite doable to do panel 4 today, as well.  I'm assuming that's the company's preference?


MR. VEGH:  Yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  And so why don't we go ahead and take the break now?  I note that there is a fairly significant turnover in the witnesses, so why don't we break for 10 minutes now?  And then maybe, depending upon timing, may not take a break between panels 3 and 4.


Thank you. 


--- Recess taken at 2:36 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:53 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  Mr. Vegh, please proceed.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  There are some additions and subtractions again from the last panel to this panel.  So I would ask for those members of this panel who have not gone under oath to do that now.
ENERSOURCE MISSISSAUGA HYDRO - PANEL 3

Branko Boras, Sworn


Bill Killeen, Sworn


Sam Ramtahal, Sworn


Martin Sultana, Previously Sworn

Examination In-Chief by Mr. Vegh

MR. VEGH:  Madam Chair, just to put on the record, this panel is entitled the load forecast panel.  It is panel number 3.  I would ask each of the members of the panel who have not yet given evidence to state their name, title and their area of evidence in this proceeding, and to confirm that they adopt that evidence.

MR. RAMANTAHAL:  Sam Ramtahal, manager strategic project.  In terms of this cost of service filing, I'm responsible for our CDM forecast 2012 to 2014, and I adopt the evidence provided for CDM.

MR. BORAS:  Branko Boras.  I'm responsible for the load forecast and I adopt the evidence.

MR. KILLEEN:  Good afternoon.  My name is Bill Killeen, and today I am responsible, and adopt the evidence, for all evidence related to issue 3.1, the load forecast.  And my title is regulatory affairs adviser.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, panel.  I just have one question in-chief, Madam Chair.  And just so it's clear, Mr. Sultana is still on the panel.

Just one question in-chief, and it goes to you, Mr. Killeen, to ensure that the information that the Panel has now is accurate.

I understand on August 23, Enersource provided updated evidence to the Board, including an update on the current status or information to date on the load forecast.

Could you please identify that information and provide a brief summary of that to the Panel?

MR. KILLEEN:  Certainly.  On August 23, we updated the evidence related to Exhibit 3, tab 1, schedule 3, and specifically table 7 -- sorry, Exhibit 3, tab 1, schedule 2 and table 7, and specifically we've added the last line on that table, which shows the actual load compared to forecast up until June of this year.

So, in other words, it's the June year-to-date actuals compared to what had been forecast to this point, of the same point, June 2012.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  I now present this panel for cross-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Mr. Aiken?

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have yet another compendium of materials that I would like to have marked, which is for panel 3.

MS. HELT:  We can mark the Energy Probe compendium for cross-examination of panel 3 as Exhibit K3.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.4:  ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM FOR CROSS-EXAMINATION OF PANEL 3.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken

MR. AIKEN:  So, Panel, if you could turn to page 1 of K3.4, I'm going to be starting with the issue of the billing demand forecast.  At page 1 is your August 23rd, 2012 letter to the Board, and in the bottom paragraph on the first page you indicate that you are removing the adjustment related to the 80,000 kilowatt hours.

Am I correct this is a typo and should be 80,000 kilowatts?

MR. BONADIE:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Then if you go to page 6 of the compendium, this is the 80,000 that is in the line that is labelled "less adjustment", with a footnote of 1 in the GS 50 to 499 column.  That's the 80,000 adjustment that you've now removed; is that correct?

MR. BONADIE:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, when we are looking at this response, the response to Energy Probe IR No. 10, I want to ask you about the rounding difference in the table.

I understand, based on the footnote, the rounding difference is due to the rounding of the load factors, and I would agree that that appears to be the case for three of the four classes shown.  But I want to look at the street lighting column.

The rounding difference there of 35.85, that's a large percentage of the forecast, the forecast being the 49,889.  I tried to reconcile the demand forecast of the 49,889 that's in your evidence and the energy forecast of 19 million kilowatt hours, which is also shown in that column.

If you work backwards to figure out what the load factor has to be to get those two numbers to match, you get something in the neighbourhood of 52 percent.

Now, would you agree there that the difference in load factors of 48.75 percent and something in excess of 52 percent must be something other than just rounding error in the load factor?

MR. BONADIE:  I can say that for the street light class, they are doing considerable amounts of conservation activity, and that's shown in one of the tables in Exhibit 3 for the street lights.  That may be one of the factors, because the load factor will change dramatically.

I believe the street light kilowatts have decreased by half, or by 100 percent.

MR. AIKEN:  Just concentrating on this table, if the load factor is changing, that's fine, but are you saying you actually didn't use a load factor of 48.75 percent in this calculation?

MR. BONADIE:  What I can tell you is that when we actually built the model with the load factors, we had the monthly data.  So we had every month for every year of those five years, and for your IR we consolidated that into annual totals.

As such, that would lead to some of the rounding effects you see here.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  Then with respect to the figure of average days per month, 30.4, is that the figure that was actually used in the calculation, or did you use the true number of 365 divided by 12?

MR. BONADIE:  Again, in the monthly amounts, we would have used the correct amount of months or days in the month.  For your calculation here in the IR, we just took an arbitrary 30.4.

MR. AIKEN:  Staying with the load factors, if you turn back to page 4 in the compendium, I take it this is where the load factors were calculated that you've used in that calculation; is that correct?

MR. BONADIE:  This is the summary, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  You are using the average of five years of data, rather than the average of the load factor for each individual year in those five years?  That's my understanding of how you've calculated those numbers; is that correct?

MR. BONADIE:  Sorry, can you restate that?

MR. AIKEN:  My understanding, on page 4 of the compendium, is the five-year average load factor you're showing is the average of the sum of the five years of data, rather than the average of the load factor in each of the five years?

MR. BONADIE:  I believe that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, you've included 2008 in this five years, which was a leap year.  So my question is:  How did you take this added day into account when you calculated the load factors?

MR. BONADIE:  Again, I would say that the original analysis we built was by months, so all the data was actually broken out by month.  And for that particular year -- or for that particular year and month, I would say, but I don't have the evidence in front of me, we used that extra day.

Again, for this IR we've consolidated the data just to simplify the question -- or the response to you, and we've put it to you on an annual basis.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.

I'm moving on to the issue of the equation used to forecast your purchases.  So if you could turn to page 7 of the compendium, this is attachment A from your evidence at Exhibit 3, tab 1, schedule 2.

So am I correct that is the equation you've used to forecast energy purchases for the 2013 test year and the 2014 ICR year?

MR. BORAS:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  When you look at the second table, the list of explanatory variables, I see that the population variable has a negative coefficient.

Board Staff had asked you a question about this in their Interrogatory No. 25, which I've included at pages 15 through 18 of the compendium.  In part d) of the question -- on page 15 of the compendium.  So in part d) of the question, Board Staff asked why the negative coefficient of the population is a credible result for the total system, while positive for the residential class and not included for other classes.

If you just stop there and go back to the residential equation on page 9 of the compendium, which is attachment C to your evidence, we can see there that the coefficient is positive and statistically significant.

Would you agree that one major difference between the residential equation and the overall purchases equation is that the latter includes a time trend that is not included in the residential equation?

MR. BORAS:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you take it, subject to check, that the level of correlation between the time trend and the population variable used in the total purchases equation is somewhere between 98 and 99 percent?

MR. BORAS:  I believe that's something we would have to check.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to do that?

MR. BORAS:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J3.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  to CONFIRM WHETHER LEVEL OF CORRELATION BETWEEN TIME TREND AND POPULATION VARIABLE USED IN TOTAL PURCHASES EQUATION IS SOMEWHERE BETWEEN 98 AND 99 percent.

MR. AIKEN:  If there is a large or high degree of correlation between those two variables, does this cause you any concern with respect to multicollinearity in the equation?

MR. BORAS:  Again, we also have to take a look at, when we talk about development of the load forecast, is we have to look at the goodness of the model fit, as well as the accuracy of the model.

As we provided in the evidence -- Exhibit 3, tab 1, schedule 1 -- our historical model, looking at the data from 1996 to 2011, tracks very well with the historical values.  We're getting the adjusted R-squared about 98.6 percent, which means that 98.6 percent variations in the historical load forecast are explained by explanatory variables, which would be the trend and population variables.

MR. AIKEN:  So what was the answer to my question?  Are you concerned about multicollinearity?

MR. BORAS:  That's something we would have to check, but, again, we also looked at the accuracy of every -- or statistical relevance of every variable, and we found that population was statistically relevant.

I believe in one of the undertakings we've also removed the population and we also found that two other variables were found to be statistically irrelevant, one of them being the build-up, which we personally believe that that is one of the very important variables that have to be included to capture the energy consumption during the heat waves or cold spells.

And during that exercise which we ran, then in one of the undertakings is the goodness of model fit was reduced, and also the accuracy of the model was reduced, as well.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, if you go back to the Staff interrogatory on page 17 -- starting at page 15, and take a look at your response that is shown on page 16 in the compendium, you're response indicates -- and I think you've just expanded on this, but your response indicates that:

"Population of the load forecast model was statistically relevant and showed a negative correlation with the total system load."

My question is:  Did you calculate the correlation between the monthly purchases and the population variable directly, or are you here referring to the negative coefficient?

MR. BORAS:  So during the development of the load forecast, we found that there was a negative coefficient with the population.

In this case, the T-test value of negative 4.32 is what was calculated by the model, and that's showing the strong statistical relevance with the total purchases.

MR. AIKEN:  But your response says that the variable showed a negative correlation with the system load.  That's different than the co-efficient.

My question is:  Have you calculated the correlation between population and the total system load, to see if it is negative?

MR. BORAS:  No.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to determine whether the correlation is actually negative or positive?

MR. BORAS:  Yeah, we can do that.

MS. HELT:  Undertaking J3.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.4:  to calculate the correlation between population and the total system load, to see if it is negative or positive

MR. AIKEN:  A very fundamental question:  Does a negative coefficient make theoretical sense to you?   In other words, the more people living in Mississauga, the less power they use?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. BORAS:  One thing that we have to be aware of 
is -- and as we provided in our evidence is city of Mississauga is going through redevelopment and intensification.  Yes, the number of the population is rising, with people moving into more condos and into homes that are using less per square footage.  We can talk about single-dwelling homes and how that is changing to people moving more into condos that's ranging from square footage to 600 to 800.  People moving in condos, their energy consumption patterns, their trend is quite different from somebody living kin a single home.

MR. AIKEN:  In the second paragraph of the response to Staff, you've provided an equation that removes the population variable, and you indicate the adjusted R-squared falls from 0.987 to 0.986, and the mean absolute error increases from 0.86 percent to 0.9 percent.

Do you consider either of those changes to be significant?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. BORAS:  Again, when we develop our load forecast, we try to make the best model fit and try to get the best accuracy using the least number of explanatory variables.

You are asking me something to speculate on the variation in the accuracy, whether it's relevant or not.  I would say reducing the model accuracy, yes, that's -- we always try make it as best as possible.

MR. AIKEN:  So once you have the total purchases forecast -–

MR. BORAS:  Sorry, Mr. Aiken, if I can add something to that?

MR. AIKEN:  Sure.

MR. BORAS:  When we talked earlier about removing the population, one thing that is also important to note, and that's that also two other variables were found to be statistically relevant during that process.

So it wouldn't be proceed don't leave those variables in the model which has population removed.

And as I mentioned earlier, one of the variables that was found to be statistically irrelevant was the build-up variable, which looks at the temperature over several days to capture if there is any heat wave.

Again, removing that variable, as well, does reduce the model accuracy considerably.  So just looking at the model accuracy, when the population -- temperature cubed and build up variables are removed, the model accuracy -- I should say model error increases from 0.86 to 0.91 percent.  And adjusted R-square, which captures the goodness of a fit, went from 0.987 to 0.985.

So it wouldn't be fair to just say that removing a population would be insignificant.

MR. KILLEEN:  If I could add, I would also like to point you to Exhibit 3, tab 1, schedule 2, and specifically table 7 on page 14, which I mentioned at the outset.

That table shows how the actual consumption has been relative to our forecast since 2004, and I would like to really emphasize that our model has been very accurate, very accurate, compared to the consumption predicted.  It was within less than point 0.07 percent.  And when it's weather corrected, the accuracy of the model is within three-tenths of a percent.

So, again, very important to understand and realize that we believe the accuracy of our model is very, very good.

MR. AIKEN:  So once you have the total purchases forecast, my understanding is, in your methodology, you have to convert that to a bill consumption forecast for each rate class, and you've outlined your methodology in the response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 29, which I've included in the compendium at pages 19 through 21.

And it's actually part c) that I'm interested in.  The response to part c) has your five-step process.  So the forecast we've been talking about, I assume that's step 1 in your process that's listed here.

Then step 2 is how you take this one figure, this one forecast number, and split it into a figure for each rate class.  Have I got that correct?

MR. BONADIE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And step 3 removes the CDM forecast from each rate class.  Step 4 converts purchases into billed kilowatt hours, and then step 5 converts the kilowatt hours to kilowatts for the classes where the kilowatt -- sorry -- yes, where the kilowatt is a billing determinant.

So I want to focus on step 2, in particular on the multi-varied regression models that you use.  Am I correct that these equations are the ones shown in attachments C through H that are in the compendium at pages 9 through 14?

MR. BONADIE:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  I see that these equations use quarterly data.  My question is:  Why is that?  Your purchases, I take it, are done using monthly data.

MR. BORAS:  The reason why we're using the quarterly data for the actual energy sales is -- again, we have to go back as to how we bill our customers.  When we look at the residential sector, they are billed on a bimonthly basis.  So by going on a quarterly basis, we're trying to remove some of, you know, obviously the billing routes, as well as any adjustments that are taking place.

So by moving to quarterly, we're taking care of that, you know, the fact that some of the customers are not billed on a calendar month.

MR. AIKEN:  With these equations, am I correct you don't actually provide forecasts using these equations, but, rather, you use them to normalize the actual historical consumption for each class of customer?

MR. BORAS:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  I just want to walk through that.  So for the residential class, which is attachment C on page 9 of the compendium, that equation, you've estimated a number of coefficients, including those for cooling degree days and heating degree days.

Am I correct that you applied these coefficients to the difference between the actual degree days and the normal degree days, and then applied that figure to the actual monthly billed kilowatt hours to come up with a normalized residential figure?

MR. BORAS:  So in terms of the rate class models, what we've done is we've used the historical data from 2004 to 2011, and we've developed the regression model for each of the rate classes using the number of explanatory variables.

So if you look at attachment C, in the bottom, some of the explanatory variables that we used is cooling degree days, heating degree days and population, in which we've tried to develop an accurate model of residential sales using a number of explanatory variables.

Once that model is developed, we have applied normal weather to calculate the actual sales that are weather corrected.

MR. AIKEN:  I'm going to give you an example and see if I've got this down right.  In the residential example, if the cooling degree days were ten higher than normal on an actual basis, you take ten times the coefficient of 764.7 that's shown there, and you come up with a figure of 7,647 -- I don't know what the units are here -- megawatt hours, I assume, which you would then subtract off the actual consumption in that particular month for the residential customers; is that correct?

MR. BORAS:  Sorry, can you repeat that last part, Mr. Aiken?

MR. AIKEN:  You would take the 7,647 megawatt hours and subtract that off the actual consumption in that particular month for the residential class to come up with the residential normalized volume for that month?

MR. BORAS:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  So obviously you make adjustments for the two weather variables.  Do you make adjustments when you calculate the normalized numbers related to the population variable?

In other words, do you stick in the difference between the forecasted population and the actual population and multiply that by the coefficient there?

MR. BORAS:  Again, we're only speaking about the weather correction here.  So I'm not clear as to why population would have an impact on the weather correction.

MR. AIKEN:  I just want to make sure you are only normalizing for the weather.  You would be surprised at how many utilities normalize for everything else.

MR. BORAS:  No, it is just the weather variables.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.

MR. BONADIE:  Again, just to be clear, in this response here, all we're doing is we're looking at the actual sales of prior years and weather normalizing prior years.  Nothing is being used to forecast here.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  So then when you've got all these monthly normalized figures for all the rate classes for all the months that result from these equations, as I said, for all rate classes, do I take it, then, that you add them all up, and then calculate the share that each rate class is of the total normalized actual consumption on a monthly basis?

MR. BONADIE:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Then it's these shares that you apply to the purchase forecast monthly numbers?

MR. BORAS:  To the forecast for '12 and '13, correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Could you turn attachment H, which is the large use class?  It's on page 14 of the compendium.  The coefficients on both the heating and cooling degree days are negative.  So does this imply that customers in this class use less power when it is colder and hotter than normal?

MR. BORAS:  You are saying, if the actual temperature is lower than the normal, that the large user class is using less?

MR. AIKEN:  I think that might have been the reverse of what I said, but I think the result is the same.  If it's colder or hotter than normal, these negative coefficients indicate that the consumption of power by these customers decreases?

MR. BORAS:  Again, if you refer to the evidence - and I believe you have provided in Board Staff IR 25 -- what we provided is -- one of the questions that was asked was to remove the cooling degree days and heating degree days; that made the model worse.  Actually, the percent error went from 0.86 to 1.22, so you actually made the model worse.

I think that sort of looks at the relevance of including those two variables in the model.  And obviously the model, the goodness fit goes from 0.987 to 077.

That's -- that's significant.

MR. AIKEN:  I'll restate my question.

If you have higher heating degree days, this equation implies that the consumption goes down; is that correct? 

MR. BORAS:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Similarly with cooling degree days, the hotter it is, the more cooling degree days you have, the less consumption these customers -- less power these customers consume, based on this equation?

MR. BONADIE:  The one thing I would add about our large users is that -- so in the middle of summer when you are getting the hottest days, we have some of the large users that may be using two shifts are on one, and maybe they are taking rotations.  I'm just speculating here.

Again, on the coldest days, we will have, you know, Christmas break and things like that, so that would factor in. 

MR. BORAS:  Just to add one thing, we do have one large user that's very progressively reducing their load during the peak hours, and those peak hours in most of Ontario does occur during the hot spells.

So they are progressively -- through conservation and energy management programs, they are reducing their consumption during the hot spells.

So when you talk about increasing heating degree days, meaning it's getting hotter and hotter, this particular large user is reducing their consumption.

MR. AIKEN:  But I take it you didn't try to model any of those items as explanatory variables? 

MR. BORAS:  We haven't done that.  And as I mentioned earlier, removing the cooling degree days and heating degree days did make the model worse.

Again, we're just using the rate class models for the -- developing the weather-correction coefficients, but the actual load forecast is developed using our total system load that we spoke earlier, and the accuracy that it has.

MR. AIKEN:  I think you mentioned Board Staff Interrogatory No. 25.  I've got this on page 15 of the compendium.  In the response to part e), I think this is what you're noting.

But then in the response to Undertaking JT2.30, which is not in the compendium, you re-estimated the large use equations, excluding the heating and cooling degree days, and noted, among other things, that the adjusted R-squared dropped from 0.936 to 0.445, and that some of the remaining explanatory variables were no longer significant.

So my question is this:  Did you try any other equations to find a better fit?

MR. BORAS:  We haven't tried any other variables, but again, if you look at the adjusted R-squared that we provided in our original evidence -- which would be the attachment C, and I believe it's also given in your compendium -- it's very good.  It's at 0.936.

So that means close to 94 percent of the variations in the large user load is explained by one of the explanatory variables, which does include your CDD and HDD variables. 

MR. AIKEN:  Would you be surprised to learn that if you drop all the variables in your original large use equation, except GDP, the number of large use customers and the dummy variable for 2011, you get an equation that has an adjusted R-squared of more than 96 percent? 

MR. BORAS:  I haven't done that calculation, so I can't comment on that.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to do it? 

[Witness panel confers]


MR. BORAS:  Mr. Aiken, can you please clarify what variables you said you've kept in the model? 

MR. AIKEN:  If you drop all the variables except GDP, the number of large use customers and the dummy variable you've included for 2011. 

[Witness panel confers]


MR. KILLEEN:  Mr. Aiken, as I said earlier, we're quite pleased with the performance of the model that has been created to produce our load forecast.  And I've cited some of the accuracy of it, pointed that out.

We've also run numerous scenarios through the interrogatories, undertakings and the like.

For example, we removed the population variable from one scenario.  We removed population variables and temperature-cubed variables under another scenario.  We removed population, temperature-cubed and build-up variables under another scenario.  Then we did some work on removing heating degree days and cooling degree days.

Consistently and under all those scenarios, we found that the performance of those models was lower than our load forecast model. 

It wouldn't surprise us if there's some combination of variables that, if you worked with and played around with, that you could come up with a higher or lower R-squared.  That might be an outcome.

However, the forecast -- the load forecast model that we've used since 2004 is unchanged since -- over those last eight, nine years.  And we've been very pleased with the load forecast.

So I'm not sure what value producing another scenario and model at this late stage of the proceeding would add. 

MR. AIKEN:  That's fine.  I'll move on. 

In the equations and attachments D through G, you have the price level as measured by the Consumer Price Index as an explanatory variable.

What is the theoretical relationship between kilowatt-hours purchased and general price levels that you are attempting to measure? 

MR. BORAS:  CPI is the Consumer Price Index, and it's one of the indicators of inflation, and one of the items that will be included in a Consumer Price Index is the cost of energy.

So we do feel that that's one of the variables that were found to be statistically relevant and that also are important in defining the energy consumption with respect to the economic activity.

MR. AIKEN:  Would I be correct that, based on your equations, one of the causes of increased consumption is an increase in inflation?  In other words, as the price levels go up, energy consumption goes up?

Whereas I think what you were saying is that the inflation level goes up as the price of electricity goes up, which is not what you're measuring in this equation.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. BORAS:  So just to add one thing to the definition of Consumer Price Index, Consumer Price Index really includes the cost of certain goods and services.

So the economic downturn, as we've seen it back in '07 and '08, we've seen that the Consumer Price Index was being reduced, which obviously had a negative impact on our energy consumption.  Again, with CPI picking up back in 2009 and 2010 and onwards, we've seen also the energy consumption picking up, as well.

That's one of the variables we do see as explanatory and having a positive correlation and a positive coefficient in the regressional model.

MR. AIKEN:  Essentially, you are using the Consumer Price Index as a proxy for economic growth and things like employment levels; is that correct?

MR. BORAS:  It does look at the economic growth.  But, as I said earlier, it looks at cost of services.

MR. AIKEN:  Does it concern you at all that the coefficient is positive for the small commercial GS less than 50 and GS 50 to 499 classes, but negative for the GS 50 to -- sorry, GS 500 to 499 (sic) class?  In other words, the impacts are different depending on what rate class you are in, apparently?

MR. BORAS:  I'm sorry, I believe what you are looking at here, attachment F, the coefficient for Consumer Price Index being positive versus the attachment G that refers to the general service 500 to 5,000 kilowatts in the Consumer Price Index being negative?  I believe that is what you are referring to?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MR. BORAS:  One of the potential reasons that could be is depending on the type of customers that are in that particular class.  If you look at some of the customers that we have in the class of 50 to 499 kilowatts, we've seen typically that this is sort of a class where you have small shops that may not -- or retail stores that may not be impacted by the changes to the economy, but once you get into some of the bigger classes, some of the bigger manufacturing plants, yes, they were affected by the economic downturn that we've seen in the 2007 and 2008 period.

MR. AIKEN:  So what you are saying is the inflation proxy for employment and growth works differently depending on the size of the customer?

MR. BORAS:  Size of the customer and type of the customer there is.  Again, we have many different businesses in the city of Mississauga.

MR. BONADIE:  I would also add to say depending on the type of customer.  So we have seen issues with plastic manufacturers, and given that there are a number of that type of customer in one class, you can see a result like this.

MR. AIKEN:  So the consumption of plastic manufacturers is a function of inflation for the economy as a whole, a Consumer Price Index, not a producer price index or an industrial price index; is that what you are saying?

MR. BONADIE:  No.  What I'm saying is that it could have an effect on that function or that CPI value within a class.

MR. AIKEN:  Turning now to the actual heating and cooling degree days used in your equations, first, am I correct Enersource uses cooling degree days based on a base of 18 degrees Celsius?

MR. BORAS:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And are using heating degree days that are based on a base of 10 degrees Celsius?

MR. BORAS:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Are both of these consistent with the calculation used by Environment Canada?

MR. BORAS:  One thing to point out, Environment Canada uses 18 degrees as a threshold for both cooling and heating degree days.  One thing it's important to point out is, when you talk about cooling degree days, that's really used to define the influence of cooling degree days on electricity used for space cooling, and heating degree days would be opposite of that, which would be the space heating.

One thing I would like to point out, if we can get it on the screen -- actually, we don't have it on the screen.  It would be Exhibit 3, tab 1, schedule 1, and I would like to take the Board members to page 8.

So what you're looking at here is the -- it's the demand plotted against temperature looking on a daily basis.  The two different colours obviously is the difference between the peak demands for your weekdays versus the weekends and holidays, which, as you know, are expected to be lower because there is less consumption during the weekends and holidays, and we've used as a method to develop appropriate threshold for our heating degree days.

If you look at closely -- I'm not sure if we can see it here.  If you look at the temperature between 10 degrees and 18 degrees, it's really sort of the dead band, meaning where the temperature increased from 10 degrees all the way up to 18 degrees, there is very little movement in the energy consumption.

Again, from an intuitive point of view, you can look at it and say, Did you really -- do you really turn heating on when it's 15 or 16 degrees at your home?  You don't; typically, you don't do that.

That's why we feel it's more appropriate to use 10 degrees as the threshold or base for developing the heating degree days.

MR. AIKEN:  When I look at that graph, I see that the title says "Plot of Daily System Peaks to Daily Average Temperature."  How do you know the same relationship holds between daily system consumption?

MR. BORAS:  We looked at the scatter plot for that, as well, which is what you are looking at right now, and it has a very similar pattern.

MR. AIKEN:  But you haven't provided that in evidence?

MR. BORAS:  No, but we do see that the daily system peak would be performing quite closely to the energy consumption, and that is why we feel it's appropriate to use this as a basis to develop the threshold for heating degree days. 
And, again, it all comes back as to how this variable explains energy purchases and how that is appropriately modelled.  We found a strong statistical relevance, and we were able to develop a very accurate model using those two particular -- two of those variables.

And I believe other utilities do use the heating degree days at 10 degrees as appropriate threshold.

MR. AIKEN:  Why haven't you changed your cooling degree days to start the base at maybe 15, because based on that scatter diagram, it looks like there's a trend starting at about a base of 15 rather than 18?

MR. BORAS:  I would disagree with that.  We've been looking at this graph quite closely, and we believe 18 degrees is appropriate threshold for cooling degree days.  Again, we've been using this since 2004, and we've been getting very good accuracy on this, and it's very consistent with what Measurement Canada uses for cooling degree days threshold, as well as the other utilities.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to file the diagram of the daily consumption, rather than the peaks for daily average temperature?

MR. BORAS:  We can provide that.

MS. HELT:  That would be J3.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.5:  to FILE DIAGRAM OF THE DAILY CONSUMPTION, RATHER THAN THE PEAKS, FOR DAILY AVERAGE TEMPERATURE.

MR. AIKEN:  I also understand that you use medians rather than the averages in calculating degree days.  So, first of all, do you agree this is different from what Environment Canada does?

MR. BORAS:  For developing the normal weather?

MR. AIKEN:  In the calculation of degree days, heating or cooling.

MR. BORAS:  Sorry, Mr. Aiken, can you repeat that question?

MR. AIKEN:  I understand, first of all, that you use medians rather than the averages in calculating degree days; is that correct?

MR. BORAS:  No, we don't use medians; we use daily average and we compare it to the threshold for whether it's 18 degrees for cooling degree days or 10 degrees for heating degree days.

So we don't use medians; we use daily averages.

So for every single day, we will look at 24 hours, we will compute the daily mean average for that particular day, and we will compare it to 18 degrees to determine whether there is any cooling degree days or we will compare it to 10 days to see if there's any heating degree days.

So we do not use medians.

MR. AIKEN:  What does the reference to medians in our evidence refer to, then?

MR. BORAS:  Can you -- I'm not sure which section -- if you are referring to our weather-normalization method, then yes, we use medians to develop -- we use medians to develop our normal weather.

I thought we were talking about here about the cooling degree days and heating degree days and how that is being calculated.

MR. AIKEN:  So let me get to the bottom of this.

Do you calculate degree days the same way Environment Canada does?

MR. BORAS:  Cooling degree days, yes.  Heating degree days, as I mentioned earlier, we're using 10 degrees as a threshold.

And we believe, as provided by the evidence, that that's appropriate.

MR. AIKEN:  I take it, then, that you use the mean temperature that is defined as the average of the maximum and the minimum temperature during the day, for each day.

MR. BORAS:  As defined by the average of 24 hours for that particular day, to compute the average.

MR. AIKEN:  Could you turn to page 25 of the compendium?

These are definitions taken from the Environment Canada website.

Second definition is mean temperature:

"The mean temperature in degrees Celsius is defined as the average of the maximum and the minimum temperature during the day."

Then if you go back to page 24 of the compendium, you can actually see this put into practice.

For example, I've provided here an example of January 2012.  January 1st maximum temperature, 7.2, minimum temperature 0.3, mean temperature 3.8.  Heating degree days -- and they are using an 18 base -- is therefore 14.2.  You'll see that in the column.

So the 14.2 is the difference between the 18 and the 3.8, and the 3.8 is based on the maximum and the minimum temperatures, which I now understand is different than the way you calculate the heating degree days for that day, because you would take the average of the 24 hourly numbers for January 1st; is that correct?

MR. BORAS:  Yes.  We use the daily average.

MR. AIKEN:  So moving on to where you actually do use the median, I understand that, in terms of your forecast, you are using 31 years of data and are using the median of those 31 years.

Now, are you using the median of the data for every year -- sorry, for every day within those years?  Or do you add them up by month and take the median for the month?

MR. BORAS:  We take the daily average of every single day and we group the day of the same week of all the years, and we rank them from the highest to the lowest.  So if you look at one particular day -- I would say it's January 1st, Monday -- there would be 31 values for the 31 years.  You rank them from the highest to the lowest, and we would attain the median value of that.

And, again, by using a median what we're trying to do is use actual historical daily temperature that did occur, as opposed to using an average that may not have happened.

Also with -- the issue with using averages is in case if there is outliers or extremely low or high temperatures, it might skew the temperature for that particular day.

So we feel that a median is more appropriate to use, and that is our methodology.

MR. AIKEN:  Do you believe that the weather is getting warmer?

MR. BORAS:  I can't really speculate about the weather.  I'm not an expert on weather.

MR. AIKEN:  If it was getting warmer, would you agree cooling degree days are going to go up and heating degree days are going to go down?  If climate change is happening?

MR. BORAS:  Yeah, I would say so.  If it's getting warmer, obviously just by the mathematics, you would see more cooling degree days.

MR. AIKEN:  By using the median approach on a period of 31 years, are you not concerned that you may be missing the climate change that's happened over the last decade or so?

MR. BORAS:  Again, I would refer back to our evidence and the accuracy of our model.

Again, we're using 16 years of historical data, and we are tracking very well using the CDD and HDD in our methodology.

And again, as Mr. Killeen mentioned, we provided the evidence on our year-to-date 2012 actuals that are weather-corrected and comparing to what we forecasted.  And we are tracking very well, so, again, ultimately it all has to come back to the accuracy of our model and how well do we forecast our energy purchases.

MR. AIKEN:  If you were to use the median from the last 11 years, would you not likely be picking up more of the change in the climate than using data that -– the data that you are currently using that goes back into the 1980s?

MR. BORAS:  Again, I can't speculate on the weather.  As we also provided in our evidence, there's a number of other entities that are using 31 years as an appropriate measure for developing the normal weather, including IESO, as well, and it was used by the -- Navigant Consulting in developing the regulated price plan forecast.

So we do feel it's appropriate to use it.

MR. AIKEN:  One final question, and this is not in the compendium; it's Exhibit 3, tab 2, schedule 1.  Again, Exhibit 3, tab 2, schedule 1.  And I'm looking at page 2 of that document, table 1.  Yes, that's the one.

Now, through a number of interrogatory responses, I believe we have forecasts for 2014 for customers' billing determinants, kilowatt-hours and kilowatts.  But I'm not sure we have on the record any place a distribution revenue, a dollar forecast for 2004 based on those forecasts.

So I'm going to ask you to undertake to provide the distribution revenue forecast for 2014 based on your current rates and on your proposed 2013 rates, unless you can point me to somewhere in the evidence where this has been filed.

MR. BONADIE:  I do know we did answer an IR providing 2014 at current rates.  I don't believe we've provided anything at proposed.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So then in that undertaking, could you identify where that --


MR. BONADIE:  Sure.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J3.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.6:  to PROVIDE DISTRIBUTION REVENUE FORECAST FOR 2014 BASED ON PROPOSED 2013 RATES.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.

I didn't want to interrupt you while you were doing your questions, because I didn't have any particular concerns with the questions per se, but many of them did strike me as questions that would -- could have appropriately been put during a technical conference, as they seem to be focused on understanding the reasons for certain approaches.

And I'm just wondering, can you help me -- do you share my observation at all, or was this an area you pursued in the technical conference but could not complete?  Can you help us a bit, because we're trying to also understand the usage of technical conferences versus cross-examination?

MR. AIKEN:  Both myself and Mr. Harper did pursue these lines of questioning, and I think by the time we got to the end of the technical conference we had a better understanding, but we still didn't have a clear understanding of how they, for example, were using all those equations to normalize historical actuals that was based on quarterly equations, yet it was applied to monthly data.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So it was sort of a matter you needed to digest what you learned at that stage, and that led to further questions?

MR. AIKEN:  That's correct, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you very much.  Does Board Staff have any questions?

MS. HELT:  No questions for this panel, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  The Board has no questions.

MR. VEGH:  And I have no re-examination, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  The panel is excused with the Board's thanks, and we will invite you to bring up panel 4.

MR. VEGH:  Madam Chair, the panel 4 to address smart meters is now available.  There is one new member, and I would ask him to be sworn.
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MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  And I would ask the new panel member to identify himself by name, title, advise of the area of his evidence and confirm that he adopts that evidence.

MR. RANKIN:  My name is David Rankin.  I am the manager of metering for Enersource Hydro Mississauga.  I will be giving testimony on the smart metering, and I adopt the evidence for smart metering.

MR. VEGH:  And I have no examination in-chief.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Would Mr. Rankin like a glass of water?  We perceive perhaps there is none available to him.

I believe Mr. Janigan has decided he has no questions for this panel or, indeed, that Ms. Helt, Board Staff, 
is --


MS. HELT:  I have spoken with Mr. Janigan, and his questions have really been incorporated in Board Staff's questions that were asked of the previous panel and the few questions that are going to be asked of this panel.  So he doesn't need to be here and has indicated he is prepared not to ask any questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  So I think it's just you, Ms. Helt?

MS. HELT:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Helt:

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

Good afternoon, Mr. Rankin.  My name is Maureen Helt.  I'm counsel with Board Staff.  I just have a few questions, and it's with respect to issue 10.1, the proposed treatment of stranded meters and whether or not that treatment is appropriate.

I have prepared a compendium, which was filed previously.  It's Exhibit K2.3.  Specifically, I'm going to refer to pages 30 through to 38 of that compendium.

If I could ask you to turn up page 32, it's Board Staff Interrogatory No. 67.  You can see it there on your screen.  There's a copy of table 3 from Exhibit 9, tab 2, schedule 2 produced in that interrogatory, and I am specifically looking at the last line of the table, where it shows the proposed stranded meter rate riders.

I would just like you to confirm the numbers that there show 323 per month for residential, 340 per month for GS less than 50, and 122 per month for GS greater than 50 kilowatts to be recovered over a period one year from January 1 to December 31, 2013.

Is that correct?

MR. RANKIN:  That is correct.

MS. HELT:  This is based on an allocation that was structured solely on the number of smart meters installed per class; is that correct?

MR. SULTANA:  That is correct.

MS. HELT:  And that could correspond, except in growth, with the number of conventional meters stranded by replacement; is that correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SULTANA:  I'm not too sure I understood that, but the customer numbers there are all the customers that received a new smart meter instead of their old mechanical meter.  So I'm not too sure what --


MS. HELT:  So the new smart meters that were installed, does that correspond with the number of conventional meters stranded?

MR. SULTANA:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.  In the technical conference, Mr. Rankin and Mr. Sultana, yourselves, had some discussion with Mr. Ritchie, Mr. Garner and Mr. Shepherd about the reasonableness of the uniform stranded meter rate riders and on how the capital costs of conventional meters were allocated in Enersource's previous cost allocation studies.

Do you recollect that exchange or discussion with other counsel?

MR. SULTANA:  Yes, I do.

MS. HELT:  And as a result of that discussion, there were certain undertakings given, and these are found at page 34 of the Board Staff compendium, undertaking number JT1.1, which was to provide the 2006 cost allocation informational filing, and at page 38 there is undertaking JT1.2.

So if we can just refer to JT1.1, on page 37 of the compendium, this shows run 2 of Enersource's 2002 cost allocation informational filing.  It's noted at run 2 in the top left of the page.  It's small print on the actual hard copy, but perhaps it's easier to read on the screen.

If we look at the capital weighted meter costs, you will see that the ratio would be 1.0 for residential, and then it's 9.16 for GS less than 50 and 35.96.

You agree with those numbers?

MR. SULTANA:  Yes, we do.

MS. HELT:  Then if we look at the response to JT1.2, which is page 38 of the compendium, if we look in the -- if you can make that smaller, please, Mr. Killeen?  Yes.
"Based on the information provided in JT1.1 and assuming run 2 is used as the basis of the allocation, the stranded meter rate rider would be as follows..."

And then it shows, if you look at the rate rider amount per customer per month for residential, it's $1.59; GS less than 50, 15.58; and then GS greater than 50, 21.60.

And at the top of that undertaking response, it says in the first paragraph:
"Enersource's proposal to allocate the stranded meter disposition rate rider to the applicable customer classes based on the number of smart meters installed is consistent with the allocation methodology approved by the Board in Guelph's 2012 cost of service application."

So that is a long introduction, but my question is:  Is Enersource proposing the class-specific stranded meter rate riders as shown in JT1.2, which is on the screen now, or the ones which you proposed in Exhibit 9, tab 2, schedule 2, which was the first table we looked at?

MR. SULTANA:  We believe that there are pros and cons to both approaches.

The first approach, where the net book value is scattered equally among the classes, there's no requirement to record the net book value for each of the separate customer classes separately.

Secondly, with regards to the amounts shown in this undertaking, it's based on a 2006 cost allocation methodology, and as was discussed at the technical conference, there were some concerns regarding the model accuracy in terms of the cost allocation model.

Enersource is amenable to using either approach, again, but there are pros and cons to picking one over the other.

MS. HELT:  But you would agree that Enersource has already stated that this is the methodology approved by the Board in another 2012 cost of service application?

MR. SULTANA:  No.  I that believe that reference to Guelph is referring to the fact that they just took their total costs and divided evenly based on customer numbers, similar to the push that was done originally by Enersource.

MS. HELT:  That's correct.  You're right.

Thank you.  I have no further questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  The Board has no questions.

Mr. Vegh?

MR. VEGH:  And I have no re-examination.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  The panel is excused with the Board's thanks.

I believe that concludes the hearing of evidence.  Do we have any more information -- well, do we have any more information regarding timing for Thursday?

MR. VEGH:  We don't.  I apologize for that.   We were just checking e-mails.  I'll be sure to be in touch with Ms. Helt and all parties to keep everyone posted on the timing.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So for the time being, the time will be 9:00 o'clock Thursday, and we will confirm or communicate a change if that's --


MR. VEGH:  I think that's fine.  I've just been advised that all witnesses are available for 9:00 o'clock on Thursday.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So unless -- we will assume it is 9:00 o'clock on Thursday unless you hear otherwise from us.

MS. HELT:  And we have set aside the north hearing room for that cross-examination.

And I understand Mr. Shepherd has provided a copy of the PowerStream documentation to Enersource.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Great.  Thank you very much.  We will see you on Thursday.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:06 p.m.
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